An exploration of young practitioners' motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects in CLD

Vicky Wilson 2023

Submitted to University of Dundee in application for the Degree of MSc Community Education

Authorship Statement

This report is based on the results of investigations carried out by myself, is my own composition, and has not previously been presented to a higher degree. The research was carried out under the supervision of: Dr Alan Mackie.

Vicky Wilson

Vicky Wilson

10th September 2023

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my previous line manager and colleague Ross Martin for affording me the opportunity to begin my academic return to university and then latterly as a study buddy when joining for this mad journey for the Masters. Thanks to my current line manager Donald Grant for continuing the support and giving me the time and support at work to undertake this work-based research. I would also like to thank my Advisor of studies Dr Alan Mackie for the advice and support and moments of clarity during the process. Thanks to my team and colleagues at work who have supported me and given me the pep talks when needed (thanks Megan) and the crochet crew that introduced me to a procrastination soother.

A huge thanks to my family for the space and time to study, my mini reader Lee for giving me early critical feedback, Beth for the company during TV series escape and my husband for just letting me do me.

Finally, I would like to thank the research participants for taking the time out from their work for their interviews, which without them would not have been able to write a valuable research project. I learned a lot from all of you and it made me excited for the future of CLD with such a committed and enthusiastic young workforce among us.

Abstract

This research is building on previous research into how we can attract young people into the career profession of Community Learning and Development (CLD). The focus for this research centered on motivation for further learning for those who are already currently working in the sector.

The findings from the research with young employees were discussed around the theories of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation and the role of CLD practitioners in considering how this can influence career choices. The research has shown that extrinsic motivations in the form of external influences, such as role models and mentors play a key role in developing young people's lack of understanding of the professional CLD role. Despite there being a range of learning pathways within the sector for young people to access along the CLD career route, this requires further work by the professional body CLD Standards Council to continue with the action of minimum levels of availability on a regional basis in Scotland. More formal structures of support are required to ensure a focus on professional career discussions are taking place with the young workforce as early as possible in their roles.

The research concludes that modern apprenticeships should be an investment for the sector as a successful steppingstone into a CLD degree and that higher education institutions who deliver the degree consider the work-based delivery of the course.

List of Abbreviations

CE	Community Education
CeVe	Community Education Validation Endorsement Committee
CLD	Community Learning and Development
CLDSC	CLD Standards Council
CPD	Continuous Professional Development
CYW	Community Youth Work
ESOL	English for Speakers of Other Languages
FE	Further Education
HE	Higher Education
HNC	Higher National Certificate
HND	Higher National Diploma
MA	Modern Apprenticeship
STD	Self-determination theory
SVQ	Scottish Vocational Qualifications
UNI	University
WALT	Working and Learning Together

List of Tables

1. Interviewed Participants	3:30
2. Current Roles Occupied and Education Level	4:34
3. Sample of data Themes from questions	A7:99

Contents

Acknowledgements	3
Abstract	4
List of Abbreviations	5
List of Tables	5
Contents	6
1. Introduction and Context	9
1.1 Learner Pathways	10
1.2 Why Community Learning Development?	10
1.3 Summary	12
2. Literature Review	13
2.1 Background Literature context to Community Learning	
and Development careers and training	14
2.2 Intrinsic Motivation	16
2.3 Impacts on Intrinsic Motivation	19
2.4 Extrinsic Motivation	20
2.5 Role Modelling	22
2.6 Impacts on Extrinsic Motivation	23
3. Research Methodology	26
3.1 Introduction	26

3.2 Methods	27
3.3 Insider Research	28
3.4 Sampling	29
3.5 Ethics	30
3.6 Respondents	31
3.7 Data Analysis	33
3.8 Limitations	34
4. Findings	35
4.1 Background to Participants	35
4.2 Theme 1 - School experience and qualifications	37
4.3 Theme 2 – Journey into current role	38
4.4 Theme 3 - Motivation to work in current role	42
4.5 Theme 4 - Lack of awareness of CLD	43
4.6 Theme 5 - Career Goals	45
4.7 Theme 6 - Role Modeling	46
4.8 Theme 7 - Apprehension/Fear of University	47
4.9 Theme 8 - Development Support	50
4.10 External Influences on Future Learning	52
4.11 Summary of Findings	53

5. Discussio	n and Analysis of Findings	54
5.1 Introduct	tion	54
5.2 Educational experience and qualifications		55
5.3 Routes a	and motivation in current roles	56
5.4 Lack of a	awareness of the sector	57
5.5 Career G	Goals	58
5.6 Role Mo	deling	59
5.7 Development Opportunities		59
5.8 Summar	у	60
6. Conclusion		61
7. Recomme	endations	64
7.1 Sharing	of Findings	65
8. Reference	es	66
Appendix 1	Research Questions	80
Appendix 2	Ethical Approval Application	81
Appendix 3	Ethical email approval	89
Appendix 4	Email to Colleagues	91
Appendix 5	Participant Information Sheet	92
Appendix 6	Informed Consent Form	96
Appendix 7	Sample of data coding themes	100

1. Introduction and context

Previous Community Learning workforce research (Tayside and Fife 2018; CLDSC 2020; Force for Good, 2021) has identified the CLD profession has an aging workforce and suggested that more needs to be done to support the young workforce onto a recognised pathway into the Community Education degree programme. The Community Education degree is the professionally accredited route approved by the Scottish Community Learning Development Standard Council (CLDSC).

As a qualified professional with over 30 years of experience in the field, having started my journey as an active participant in youth work, I have always had a motivational interest in training and workforce development. My journey can be described as linear moving from school to higher education to study for a degree in Community Education (CE) and then into employment in my chosen career area. Despite this journey, my career goal was not formed until what would be described now as the senior phase in high school, and aware my route into the degree is not a common route for many who enter the CE profession. This work-based research aimed to explore what motivational factors exist for young people to want to study academically and the barriers faced both individually and professionally. Through quantitively gathering data with staff already employed in the Community Learning and Development (CLD) sector, it will establish awareness of the routes available and what support is there in their current posts to establish future career routes.

1.1 Learner Pathways

As a profession, we have a variety of certified qualifications that exist in the profession across the various strands of youth work, adult learning, and community development (CLDSC 2020) what is not known is the availability of the delivery of the awards across Scotland and how readily they are available at a time when young staff may seek out the interest to develop their career prospects. What is known in the profession, the delivery that these awards are often delivered by the current qualified workforce. Often delivered on an ad hoc basis, determined by the capacity and commitment of these staff within their current workloads to be able to provide the qualifications alongside growing priority areas within workloads.

The gaps in the availability of these steppingstone routes on an accredited pathway further result in a reduced intake into the CE degree. Therefore, the complex pathway routes make it a confusing landscape for those considering a career in Community Education. 41% of the workforce surveyed in the Borders in the voluntary youth work sector did not know about opportunities for training and qualifications and 15% said career progression pathways are unclear (Force for Good, 2021).

1.2 Why Community Learning Development?

The report 'Why Employers in the Public and 3rd Sectors Need Professional CLD Practitioners' (CLDSC 2021) aims to provide guiding principles and demonstrate the professional skill set of qualified Community Learning and Development (CLD) workers. (McArdle Et al. 2020, Ledwith 2020) Describe the social justice principles and commitment to facilitate change through informal and transformative learning methods, so that professional CLD workers understand the processes of engagement to enable the empowerment of individuals and communities. CLD workers operate within the core values and competence framework (CLDSC 2022). The values are fundamental to their practice and their approach to effect social inequalities, and discrimination, fairness all of which support the Scottish Government's core public policy agendas areas in education, health, employment, social inclusion, and poverty (CLDSC 2021).

The statement below was made in the Working and Learning Together (WALT) report produced by the Scottish Executive (2004) that placed Community Education practice at the heart of the Government's community planning agenda and titled in the Executive summary What is Community Learning?

Community learning and development describes a way of

working with and supporting communities. We see community learning and development as central to 'social capital' – a way of working with communities to increase the skills, confidence, networks, and resources they need to tackle problems and grasp opportunities. We want community learning and development to bring together the best of what has been done under the banners of 'community education' and 'community development' to help individuals and communities tackle real issues in their lives through community action and community-based learning.

(Scottish Office, 2004)

The Scottish Government has continued to emphasize the role of CLD through regulations and strategic guidance placed on authorities for CLD, Community planning partnerships, Community empowerment, and community plan development (2012, 2013, 2018, 2020) to support a wider partnership approach to supporting communities. The emphasis is placed on community learning partnerships that include not just qualified CLD

workers, but those who are working in the voluntary sector, health partnerships, housing, education, and social care. Professionally qualified Community Education identity is rooted in our history.

The Community Education degree evolved following the Alexander Report (1975) that sought to bring together the key skills and knowledge required to practice professionally across the three strands of the work, Youth Work, Adult Learning, and Community Development. The Community Education Validation and Endorsement committee (CeVe) published guidelines (1991) for the qualification. At the onset for young people under the age of 23 to be able to access the degree course required educational qualifications and some experience in community settings were stipulated.

1.3 Summary

This research study will discuss the experiences of young practitioners working in the CLD field whether their experiences of learning impacted their future choices and if their current journeys into the CLD profession were a deliberate or accidental choice. I will discuss the support experiences of the interviewed young practitioners to undertake further learning opportunities to allow them to progress their career to a professionally qualified post. This will allow conclusions to be drawn on the profession's role in supporting recognised pathways routes for the young workforce and how we are embracing the community learning ethos in line with the Scottish Government's (2012) guidance for CLD which placed a specific emphasis on our rooted values in lifelong learning for all.

Improved life chances for people of all ages, through learning, personal development, and active citizenship;

2. Literature Review

This work-based research will focus on young people's (aged thirty-five years and below) motivation to undertake learning to progress in their careers from their current post held within the Community Learning and Development (CLD) service. There is a growing gap in the number of young people coming through as professionally gualified Community Education Workers (CLDSC, 2018). With an aging workforce and a clear need to support an educational pathway into CLD, I aim to explore what drives young people to want to progress within the profession. Anderson (2021) helps us to understand the role of learning methods in aiming to improve motivation in young people from an educational perspective. CLD as a profession is led by our values (CLDSC 2018) in the promotion of lifelong learning both for participants and professionals therefore it is important for those coming into the CLD profession to understand and know why lifelong learning is beneficial to their future careers. Equally, it is important for those educating the next generation of CLD professionals, to know the best way to attract students to want to advance their learning.

Hunter's (2020:79) research 'Understanding how we grow the young Community Learning and Development Workforce' suggested an area of inquiry for further review was the recommendation, 'at what stage did practitioners become aware of CLD as a profession?' This area was interesting to me as I felt that we could pinpoint the stage in which progression becomes desirable to those in the early stages of their career in CLD. The research questions would further gather information so that we could see why they are not seemingly interested in progression, then possibly help to shape the offer of learning progression for CLD to accommodate the young workforce to become future learners of the profession.

I will examine relevant literature to my central research question 'An exploration of young practitioners' motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects in CLD'. This will be closely looking at (1) the background context to the CLD learning landscape in Scotland (2) contextualizing current thinking around the topics of Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation for learning (2) the effects of motivation on academic outcomes and career choices (3) understanding the impact on learning from a personal and socio-economical perspective and how this can influence perceptions on obtainable academic qualifications. (4) Role modeling and the importance this plays in supporting motivation

Dialogue with participants in the research would further build on the scope and recommendations by Hunter (2020) in growing the young CLD workforce. My study aims to build further on the small-scale research (ibid:2020) and further understand the complexities of motivation for learning and the CLD's role in supporting the young workforce.

2.1 Background Literature context to Community Learning and Development careers and training

A local authority post search (My Jobs Scotland) and a search on job recruitment site Indeed, threw up a varying degree of names for posts using the search 'community learning'. In the local authority search, this ranged from community learning workers, community assistants, community learning & development workers, Community Education Workers, Literacy and Numeracy workers, ESOL workers, Youth, family and community learning officers, and youth workers. In comparison when searching on a generic job search engine, posts related to community learning gave wide-ranging results covering the social care and health sectors. This range of terminology may contribute in some way to the confusion of what Community learning delivers or indeed what the role involves (Mackie 2013) but could also be viewed as positive, showing the breadth of areas that the sector delivers within to address Scottish Government public policy (CLDSC 2021).

(CLDSC, 2020, pg.8) Identified the decline of universities providing the professional CLD degree with four remaining, predominately across the central area of Scotland, therefore providing a significant gap in access for many people living in the north, rural, and island communities of Scotland (ibid 2020, p.15). The recent re-introduction of the work-based route in the University of Dundee in 2019 (University of Dundee 2023) has provided an opportunity for a flexible method for practitioners to study while working in the field and combine their practice with the course.

The report (Ibid 2020, p.9) provided a breakdown of data gathered on the varying accredited pathway routes to the degree courses these twenty-five programmes of accreditation were just a selection of what is offered, and potentially others have now come on board. The availability and the delivery of these will differ across Scotland adding to the complexities of providing a clear pathway route into the CLD degree. The CLDSC (2020, p.28) set an action 'to secure and support minimum levels of provision in each region, including the expansion of part-time programmes.'

Continuous CPD was introduced as an integral part of practitioners' practice CLDSC wrote Growing the Learning Culture (2011) which led to the development of Tayside and Fife CLD CPD Alliance as a regional grouping to take forward learning opportunities for the staff employed in the sector. This is one of five learning CLD CPD Networks in Scotland, (I-develop 2023) where representatives from the local authority employers, learning providers, and national partners come together to develop programmes of learning for staff in the field. For staff who are already

employed in the four local authority regions where the research was taking place, the commitment to workforce development is evident. All the local authorities published CLD Plans 2021-24. (Fife, Dundee, Angus, Perth and Kinross 2021). There are similarities clearly stating commitments to provide training opportunities for the sector.

We are committed to ensuring staff and volunteers across Perth and Kinross can access high-quality, relevant, and role appropriate training and development opportunities. We are committed to encouraging and nurturing a learning culture and we will do this with support from the Tayside & Fife CLD Professional Learning Alliance (the Alliance) and the CLD Standards Council for Scotland.

Perth and Kinross CLD Plan 2021-24

The importance of knowing the current learning landscape context is provided to give an overview of the opportunities to work, study, and learn at all levels for entrants into a career in CLD. It is with this background I will now focus on people's motivation for study.

2.2 Intrinsic Motivation

Anderson (2021, p.46) introduces the six principles of intrinsic motivation

- Autonomy having the power and influence over your learning is one of the most critical aspects of developing intrinsic motivation.
- Belonging the need to feel a human connection with others and be part of a community
- Competence the ability to be able to perform successfully in a task where the learning is understood

- Purpose the drive coming from personal interest and goals to achieve
- 5. Fun a genuine love and joy to be involved in the learning
- Curiosity a desire to learn and gain more knowledge of an area of interest through investigation and exploring

Sullo (2007, p.8) further explores motivation from the inside out 'intrinsic motivation',, and that an individual's personal interests, values, and need to succeed drive them. Academic motivation is essential for students to engage in learning activities, persist in the face of challenges, and achieve their academic goals. It encompasses intrinsic motivation (autonomous engagement). Young people who are highly motivated to engage with learning are described as having goal clarity, clear purpose driving their efforts to learn, perseverance and can deal with challenges, initiative and self-discipline, self-efficacy, and intrinsic interest (Shwan 2021, Urdan, 2021). For example, a young person may have identified a career goal as an engineer (purpose) and are self-directed and feel ownership in the subjects they choose necessary for the career goal (autonomy), being alongside students with similar interests in those subjects or have built relationships in the school community (belonging), and asks questions to help improve their understanding of a subject (curiosity). The young person may not be performing in all the tasks (competent) they are studying, but their intrinsic motivation to achieve the goal of becoming an engineer will help to overcome any challenges along the way when focused on the end goal. To be internally motivated may not require all six principles to be happening at the same time.

Autonomy, competence, and relatedness are associated with selfdetermination theory (Ryan & Deci 2000), and Forbes (2023) found in research with young people interviewed in Fife, many young people have set career goals with a vision of a preferred profession in mind. "They

attach value to these, showing that their career aspiration goes beyond the financial" (Forbes 2023:11)

Goals setting and goal mastery were explored by (Hidi & Harackiewicz 2000, and Wentzel & Wigfield 1998) The desire to learn to be the best in a subject area is described as mastery and this has a positive effect on the academic desire to be the best they can be and develop their interest building on an individual's intrinsic motivation.

(Bloomer & Hodkinson 2000, p.593) investigated young people's nature of learning after they leave formal education and described their journeys as erratic and not linear. Their identity and experiences were associated with the desire to earn financially to find their transition into adulthood and the rewards associated with being able to participate in adult social activities.

When exploring what intrinsic motivation looks like for adults returning to education (Scalon 2008, Waller 2006) discuss the motives for adult returners, and many, the intrinsic motivation can be associated with the six principles discussed earlier. This includes the desire to learn (curiosity), as well as social contact and simulation (belonging). This may be a result of being out of education or work for some time. By observing young people's intrinsic motivations using the six principles when working in youth work with young people, they may be driven by a sense of wanting to make a difference in the lives of those who attend their projects (purpose). This may create a sense of (belonging) in the community either locally or with peers whom they work alongside, and selfdetermination theory can provide intrinsic motivation and satisfaction within their current role. Young people in my experience who enter the profession come from already having been a participant in a youth project in their local community. They may have been encouraged to progress volunteering and the enjoyment (fun), experienced when working in the

role can lead to activating the desire (curiosity), to go on and gain more knowledge in youth work to help them become a better worker.

2.3 Impacts on Intrinsic Motivation

Sitting exams and receiving results is part of the transition to adulthood for many at a key time of other significant hormonal, physical, and social changes experienced in adolescence all can impact motivation for learning. Longitudinal studies (Gillen-O'Neel & Fuligni 2013, Twand & Eccles 2013) have shown that academic motivation decreases across adolescence, particularly during transitions. A perceived need to fit in with peers socially, a sense of belonging, can alter the focus of achievement goals and may come in the form of social goals out with school that can gain their status with peers as opposed to being academically motivated (Urdan 2022, p.138). Academic motivation in adolescents has been explored widely (Urdan 2002, Hidi & Harackiewicz 2000, Hidi et al 2002, Hidi & Renniger 2006), and argue the use of extrinsic rewards and grades in educational teaching methods impacts young people's engagement in tasks that are constructed in this way. As a result, when young people reach adolescence their self-belief and competence associated with learning impacts negatively on how they value the learning.

CLD workers in their role as informal educators have traditionally supported young people through youth work practice in increasing their understanding of their physical, emotional, and social place in the world adopting a pedagogy of experiential learning. It could be argued that those young people who have experienced this style of learning as a participant and then gain employment in the service will have some knowledge of the methods and approaches used to help young people develop in the social world. Hidi & Harackiewicz (2000) describe situational interest as a method of developing imaginative, engaging styles of learning that would develop a young person's interest by implementing interventions that foster autonomy and intrinsic motivation. This could be true of young people entering the workforce based on their own experiences of CLD as young participants and developing further their purpose, belonging, and curiosity of the six principles of intrinsic motivation.

2.4 Extrinsic Motivation

Young people's experience of academic motivation is gleaned from their experiences in school and the importance placed on academic achievement Sullo (2007). Motivation is created differently in every individual and can be influenced by various factors. Extrinsic motivation is described by (Sullo 2007, and Anderson 2021) where engagement is driven by rewards, incentives, and grades, The power ultimately still lies with the educator, and the reward is measured by results and the level of grade. In the example earlier of the young person with a desire to follow a career in engineering, they are extrinsically motivated to gain the necessary results to progress into higher education to pursue a degree in an engineering field. Young people who are achieving higher results academically will be allowed to access higher education and enter higherpaid professions. The career goals are the intrinsic motivator and the qualification grades required are the driving extrinsic motivator. The attainment value placed on this by the young person to determine their future social and economic placement will influence their intrinsic motivation to achieve better results. (McKnight & Reeves 2017)

Extrinsic motivation (engaging for rewards or external pressure) can have a detrimental impact on motivation by creating competitiveness among peers and if a young person is not performing as well, it can create pressures that negatively impact the principles discussed earlier such as belonging, competence and curiosity. The sense of failing could create complete apathy and amotivation (Smith et al 2023, p.1304). Lowmotivated young people will struggle with goal setting, lose enthusiasm, have limited interest, lack confidence, and not be able to deal with failures or setbacks.

Employers' expectations to advance in the workplace on specific areas of knowledge and skills for career development if this is linked to monetary rewards and progression in work can play a factor in learner engagement. A study by (Yoo and Huang 2013) explored short-term extrinsic motivation and long-term extrinsic motivation that focuses on future career development and results for those in the 20-40 age group suggested that performance in the workplace and career development begins to become a motivator for learning. In contrast (Anderson 2021) discusses that continued use of extrinsic motivators to reward learners and gain achievements can impact the self-motivational attribute to value learning but becomes solely focused on the rewards. This would suggest that when looking at young people in the CLD workforce in this age category providing learning opportunities linked to improving performance and progression can contribute to an engaged young workforce but would need to be aware of the potential impact on expectations of success.

Adult learners (Scanlon 2008) report that reasons for returning to education are linked to the need to improve on qualifications not achieved while at school, a requirement to improve their employment prospects and future financial security. Alongside satisfying family members and becoming role models for their own families, the desire for success begins to be focused on the choices that they aspire to for their future selves and the rewards this will bring.

2.5 Role Modelling

The roles of others in young people's lives family, peers, teachers, and interested adults can play an influential role in how they perform academically at school. In recent research by Gordon Forbes (2023), the sense of belonging plays a key feature when asked about their lives,

"When young people describe their futures, they do so with a vision of the people around them" (ibid,2023:10).

Limited role models in the lives of young people from similar backgrounds can make the idea of career progression more unattainable for those living in poverty. Without other role model influences it may become harder to imagine a future within a social culture such as higher education and consequently lead to a lack of motivation to invest time and effort in education. (Morgenroth et al 2015) describes the value of positive role models in providing "representations of the possible" and can impact their currently held barrier perceptions. Working alongside young people through volunteering or early in their initial roles as part-time sessional staff role models can impact increasing motivation to work towards new goal setting and possibilities. As with adult returners the desire to become a role model for their own families and this value placed on the goal will positively impact their motivation (Morgenroth et al 2015, p.465)

Hoare et al (2013) explored reciprocal role modeling in nursing with graduate students and experienced nurses. Through an agreed buddying system, the creation of an "interprofessional learning environment" has been encouraged and all staff members are included in the role modeling, sharing their expertise. Key to developing this type of role modeling key elements of willingness, recognising potential, and applying this to practice evolves through the relationships developed. "An investment of time will contribute to building levels of confidence which are particularly important in the second phase of recognising potential." (ibid 2013, p89).

This method of reciprocity in a CLD environment is a fundamental approach in all domains of the work to empower individuals to make positive changes in their lives through learning. Having role models with similar journeys who can impart the underlying values and purpose behind the practice, can act as the catalyst for making aspirations become a reality and creating a belief a different future is possible.

2.6 Impacts on Extrinsic Motivation

Joseph Rowntree (2023) in Scotland 2020 reported that 1 in 12 adults were living in deep poverty, living 40% below the median income. As we experience the cost-of-living crisis that is now taking effect with rising fuel and living costs, and not the same level of increases in incomes, the impact on children living in families in poverty who are on the lowest incomes will be impacted further. Students living in poverty may lack access to basic needs such as food, warmth, and a stable living environment, and this can impact a young person's ability to motivate themselves to learn and ultimately their achievements. (McKinney et al 2023) discussed the number of educational initiatives in a Scottish policy context and the attempts to close the attainment gap for those most disadvantaged young people. They argue more is required by those in learning environments to be aware of the extent of poverty and external financial factors impacting families and young people.

Parsons's (1976) functionalist theory of education discussed education enabling young people to move through a society based on their achievements and Bourdieu (1984) confirms this further by describing his cultural capital theory declaring that the nationally recognized and accepted method of measuring someone's status through their level of qualifications gained, therefore translates into economic value.

Young people's view of themselves can be influenced by their external view of their social status, family, community, and their expected abilities (Morgenroth et al 2015). Harrison (2018) offered an alternative approach to practice when exploring aspirations in young people and how they view themselves in the future. The role of expectations held by the young person and those from disadvantaged backgrounds, Harrison describes are capable of 'aspiring' to go further or to attend higher education, but the expectations on themselves are bounded by their socio-economic status. Young people from disadvantaged backgrounds will limit their own choices determined by their own limited experiences and financial constraints relating this to Bourdieu's (1984) habitus theory a young person from a lower cultural capital believing financial limitations, lack of family support, and an inferior complex (Stopforth et al 2021) will impact on how they would view themselves in these institutions and their ability to conduct themselves in an environment that may well be alien to them, their family or indeed the area they come from if this is not the 'norm'. Bloomer & Hodkinson (2000, p.590) go further to describe this as the disposition of learning and the impact this can have where young people view their positions.

Given that the Community Education degree is delivered in Higher Education institutions this could be a perceived barrier as the professional CLD qualification is delivered in an unattainable institution with the cultural assumptions held by those from lower social classes. Gormally et al. (2021) researched student perceptions regarding teaching, learning, and assessment in Community Youth Work (CYW) courses and demonstrated that the delivery of youth and community programmes in Higher Education institutions followed a "more holistic and critical pedagogical approach in

areas of teaching and learning that was aligned with methods from CYW practice".

This reveals that the educational practice in the delivery of the degree is in line with our professional values (CLDSC 2018) and is taking place in the teaching and learning of the practice. In this context of the institution and affording the Bourdieu (1984) theory of habitus, higher education institutions play a pivotal role in what Bloomer & Hodkinson (ibid 2000, p.590) go on to discuss affect the dispositions of learning for young people and can be attributed to their perceived equality to access learning. Breaking down bourdien cultural barriers for young people who are aspiring to enter the profession was described as complex by (Bloomer & Hodkinson 2000, p.590). Therefore, it is multiple roles for those who have experienced the degree, role models for young people, and the CLD programme providers in higher education to explore the situational interest or values held by these young people to make this an attractive reality. Promoting real social pedagogy in the teaching, mimicking the approaches in the field will inspire young people who experience social inequalities because of poverty, to aspire to obtainable goals.

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Introduction

Personal curiosity alongside professional inquisitive praxis led to wanting to explore why young people are not entering the CE degree, and why was this the case? As a profession, is it made clear to young people when they volunteer or take up part-time posts the opportunities available for the young workforce that CLD is a career option? Are there clear and accessible accredited routes available to begin the journey into a professional career in Community Learning and Development?

The rationale and question then formed for this research to '*An* exploration of young practitioners' motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects in CLD' and from this, the following objectives would evolve through the findings and analysis.

- Discover what motivates younger staff to work in the CLD profession
- At what stage do they become aware of CLD as a qualified profession
- understand the barriers that are preventing younger age groups currently practicing in the field in the Fife and Tayside regions from, progressing to qualifications
- Were there differences in routes to further learning for those who held the degree from those who did not hold a degree
- ascertain if young staff have the same access to opportunities to upskill through further learning opportunities and if supported to study while in the workplace

In this research the focus was on young staff under the age of 35 years currently working in paid roles in youth work and other areas of CLD and their learning journey to further enable progression to a qualified Community Learning role.

3.2 Methods

The research method that was undertaken was a qualitative approach to allow for a dialogue with participants to gain a deeper understanding and insight into an individual's motivation to work and learn in the CLD sector. Denscome (2010) describes this method of interpreting and understanding the language as assisting the researcher to interpret and gather depth of the norms, values, and perceptions of a group's responses. Adopting a constructivist standpoint as a social researcher was founded in the belief that the world is created at the interface of human understanding, and it is this shared meaning that will help to understand the meanings. (Sarantakos 2005, Denscome 2010), discussed how the researcher holds current knowledge from a professional context believing what is known to be. In the case of this research, my professional held belief in my understanding of the current landscape for staff to access learning opportunities within the Tayside and Fife region. Adopting a reflexive approach (Ledwith and Springett 2010; Lillrank 2012) I was aware of my role, biases, and perspectives held from my own experiences within the CLD field. As the researcher, I had to be aware and ensure subjectivity with the participants to fully explore an individual's interpretation of their lived experiences gained through the dialogue and gain an honest view of their understanding. This research aimed to interpret a collection of data by using a themed method of questioning. This helped those participants gain an understanding of the realities of the role of learning in their career aspirations through semi-detached stories.

3.3 Insider Research

As a researcher working on the 'inside' (Dwyer and Buckle 2009; Asselin 2003; Mackie 2019) the positive of being an insider for this study was the local knowledge of staff that would fit the criteria allowing access to participants more easily. Established professional relationships with peers in other authorities granted me quicker access to staff from other authorities who were not known to me. As an insider researcher, the benefits of understanding the culture of the profession afforded me as (Mackie 2019) described "greater legitimacy with participants".

Established relationships can have a positive impact on conversations as a researcher (Lillrank 2012) by being able to hold fluid interactions, but also being aware of the need to acknowledge researcher subjectivity in the analysis of the data, and not interpret the data based on the knowledge of some participants who had taken part. Recognition must also be given to the value in the content of the dialogue gained through the relationship with the interviewer. As the researcher I manage my active listening skills to allow the respondents to feel heard and their experiences acknowledged (Lillrank 2012). (Nowika & Ryan 2015) described the importance of the insider researcher's ability to leave their preconceived beliefs out with the process and embrace uncertainty. It was crucial to assure the participants given the early status within their career journeys of the anonymity that would be given.

The potential challenges experienced by being an insider researcher could be the blurring of roles for those known participants (Asselin 2003). This was addressed in the ethical application approval form (Appendix 2) and approved by the University of Dundee (Appendix 3). This was alleviated by stating at the outset of interviews and during sensitive questions about supervision and CPD opportunities. I identified to those participating I was interviewing as the role of a researcher and not the role of a team manager. Assuring participants that all information was confidential and

only used for the research and pseudonyms would be given for each of the participants.

This did require a conscious process for the questions constructed (Appendix 1) that would give the required insight into this research. The questions were set by the researcher but were open and flexible in terms of themes and flow of questioning that could be followed to allow for deeper conversation to evolve dependent on the replies given by the participants. Forming an investigative approach and given there has been little previous research, around the support for young staff already working within the CLD field the data gathered from respondents would provide new insight and knowledge as to how as a profession, we support the opportunities for career progression.

3.4 Sampling

Opting to undertake interviews with individuals under the age of thirty-five and who were working in the Community Learning sector across the regions of Fife, Dundee, Angus, Perth, and Kinross allowed for a wider analysis of a specific sample. Sarantakos (2005) suggests as a researcher by sampling, we are adopting clear parameters at the outset of who we will be including in 'purposive sampling'. From defining the age range at the outset as the earlier research identified (CLDSC 2018) a low percentage of the workforce is below the age of thirty-five years. The research design enabled clear negotiation on access to the subjects to take part in the process.

Email (appendix 4) was used from a work email address to team manager colleagues who operate in different areas of Fife and other local authorities, all of whom manage a CLD team with staff who would fit the sampling. This provided the opportunity to inform colleagues of the

research being undertaken. The email to managers requested the preconstructed email be circulated to their teams and requested responses were sent to the researcher's university email differentiating from the manager's work status to the role of a student researcher.

Being based in Fife and having worked across several teams there was current knowledge of suitable individuals who would fit the criteria of the research and opted to email a few participants directly, whilst being aware of the current manager status may be interpreted as having an unavoidable power imbalance and inherent pressure for those occupying junior roles to take part. In agreement with Fine (2021), as a researcher setting out clear ethical practices that explain well-defined good practice guidelines to the participants, I stated from the outset the purpose of their involvement and clearly stated the difference in roles occupied as a researcher to that of my role as a manager and their response, or not, would not in any way affect them in their job, nor prejudice them in any way. Again, referring to my 'insider' status this gave more legitimacy and acceptance as a researcher to the respondents and quickly allowed for more in-depth conversations. This provided rich insightful dialogue with these staff and by maintaining a subjective standpoint allowed me in my role as a researcher to fully understand their thoughts and feelings from their shared experiences.

3.5 Ethics

Conducting this research within my organisation and with other regions I had a conscious understanding of my current position status of manager could be assumed power associated with the hierarchical position label in the workplace. I was aware of my own potential professional bias held, in the belief that entering the CLD profession would be a natural career goal to obtain. The information sheet (Appendix 5) was constructed along with a consent form (Appendix 6) using the University of Dundee ethical guidelines and then provided to participants before the interviews to read and sign. Once respondents had confirmed via email their willingness to take part in the research, the participant information sheet and a consent form were emailed direct to them explaining this was to be read, signed, and returned to the researcher's university email address and would be stored securely in the University one drive and only accessed by the researcher. The information letter to participants stated their involvement would be confidential and at any time could withdraw their involvement in the process.

It was then explained at the start of each interview to the participants, that the research being conducted, and the answers would not prejudice them in any way. By making this clear at the outset all discussions and information used will be confidential and not easily identifiable in the final written dissertation as pseudonyms would be used. I hoped that this would facilitate open and honest communication about their workplace and their personal views about career progression. They were also reminded that they could withdraw from the research at any time of the process and this, again would not prejudice them in the workplace.

3.6 Respondents

The research aimed to conduct interviews with around 8-10 participants who would come from all four of the local authorities in the Tayside and Fife region (Dundee, Angus, Perth, and Kinross and Fife). E-mails were circulated among colleagues in all four local authorities, and a post on Twitter was also used to seek out candidates to take part. The use of social media allowed for a wider net to be cascaded, and this resulted in one reply who was out of the age category, but offered to get in touch with those who might meet the criteria. However, this did not receive any further correspondence. The total respondents were eight from two of the four authorities. Of the respondents who took part, they all were within the age category and had differing levels of qualifications, this included those with no qualifications compared to those qualified to degree level. This meant that the data captured allowed for some comparisons between those who had chosen to go on and undertake further study and those who had not taken that route. Due to the limitations of time for the interview process, it did not allow me to further search for more staff who were all unqualified.

Status	Interviewees
Respondents under 35	8
Those with CLD degree	2
Working towards a CLD	1
degree	
Those with another subject	2
area degree	
Currently no degree	3

3. Table 1. Interviewed participants

Following the responses, dates and arranged times were agreed with those taking part. The interviews took place both face-to-face and virtually using Microsoft TEAMS if this was most convenient for those choosing to take part in the research. There was an even split between the face-toface interviews and those held on TEAMS and virtual interviews were favoured by those who worked further away as this was a more accessible and convenient way for the interviews to take place. Participants were made aware at the beginning of all interviews that they were being recorded to allow for the transcribing of their answers for later use in the research. They were made aware this was only for use by the researcher and that the recordings would be stored securely in the university one drive and then destroyed upon the finalisation of the university result. All respondents were made aware that this would not identify them as individuals in the writing and would assume pseudonyms, they were asked if they wished to assign a name of their choosing.

3.7 Data Analysis

It was important to avoid the research being based on preconceived ideas held by researcher bias and be entirely based on the analysis from the literature review and where similarities could be found from the views gathered in the interviews.

Using the approach by Bruan and Clarke (2022) in the thematic analysis provided the lens for transcribing the interviews. The approach was used to develop codes from the collated responses and draw out themes that emerged from the data gained across the sample (Appendix 7). I did this by gathering all the questions in a table with responses and using coloured highlighting to identify similar wording or themes that became apparent as the data was analysed using this method. This allowed me to be flexible as the responses did not always follow the intended selection of questions depending on the flow of the conversation with the participants. What began to emerge during the analysis of the responses also span across the theoretical literature themes and this qualitative framework was suited to the analysis.

The analysis of the themes and findings presented will be of interest to local employers in CLD, educational providers and, the CLDSC to look at

how we engage those young staff in further learning that could start their career journeys into the CLD profession.

3.8 Limitations

The research was limited to a small group of eight candidates interviewed to gain qualitative data to help inform the study objectives. Candidates that came forward were from two local authority regions so therefore the responses cannot be assumed to be representative of the views of all young people employed in the CLD sector. There were no candidates from the voluntary sector and therefore may have given a further angle on their experiences of learning and progression opportunities.

Further limitations were concern about interviewees being influenced to take part in the interviews by their prospective employers and that hierarchal influence and the impact on their responses could limit the data collected from interviews. I potentially could also be known to some of the candidates due to my previously held roles in my organisation and potential bias could be assumed. As an experienced CLD relational practitioner, I was able to assure respondents that they could be open and honest during their conversations and therefore avoid external relationships to influence the direction of conversations. My vested interest in the training and development of the workforce could also bias the interpretation of the discussions and analysis of the data gathered. I have made every effort to remain impartial and conduct the research with integrity based on the data.

4. Findings

From the Literature review, motivation and factors that influence a young person's route into further learning and higher education were a complex infusion of how an individual's intrinsic and extrinsic motivation can influence career decisions. To understand further what influences young people to further progress in their CLD career I will discuss the main themes drawn from my interviewed participants. Through the research, I sought to discover what motivated young people currently working in the profession, when they become aware of CLD as a profession, and what perceived barriers existed for those working to consider further study. I also explored young practitioners' support with Continuous Professional Development and further learning opportunities in the workplace.

4.1 Background to Participants

Eight young people under the age of thirty-five years were interviewed, all of whom were currently working in the Community Learning sector.

ID	Current Role and Qualifications
Danny	Project Officer with local authority – 2 years and previously 2 years an MA
	digital project worker – SVQ level 7 in digital qualifications related to role
Joe	Senior youth worker with the local authority – 4 years, and previous 2
	years as MA youth worker, gained SVQ level 3 youth work and applied for
	work-based Community Education degree start sept 23
Katy	Community Education Worker with local authority – 16 months in role
	qualified in CLD for 12 years
Emma	Senior Youth Worker for local authority - 6 years as a youth worker and 2
	years as MA Youth worker, currently in 3 rd year Community Education
	course
Georg	Community Education Worker with local authority newly qualified - in
е	first post 18 months

Lucy	Modern Apprentice Digital Marketing with the local authority – 1^{st} year of MA, just completed level 3 digital qualifications related to the post
Harry	Community Learning Assistant with the local authority – Music degree and studying SVQ 3 youth work
Michae I	Community Learning Assistant with the local authority- Languages degree

4 Table 2: Current roles Occupied and Education Level

Table 2. This shows the range of roles that the respondents occupied and shows a variation in titles given to those not qualified for the Community Education degree. Two replied in youth work posts, one a project officer which was a quite specific youth work project, a modern apprenticeship in digital marketing within the youth work service, and community learning assistant based in the youth work service with specific youth work roles who were qualified to degree level in other subject areas. Of the two qualified Community Education workers, one was full-time and mainly covered youth work in the post with some other generic areas of work adult learning, and community development. The other post was part-time with a focus on young people and some family learning involvement.

Several main themes were identified from the responses given to the questions (Appendix 1) and these will form the basis of the data findings relating to the identified objectives of the research.

4.2 Theme 1 - School experience and qualifications

Leading on from the discussion about their current roles, I wanted to get an idea from the respondents about their experiences of education and the level of qualifications that they held. The eight interviewed had mixed experience with school, depending on the flow of the conversation not all interviewees directly referred to their time in school but may have just referred to qualifications or experience with them until that point. Some of the responses then alluded to their reasons for considering, or not, higher education as an option. Lucy, the youngest of the participants had left school to go on her modern apprenticeship. "I started 6th year, but then I got the job (MA) so I left straight into that.... I had Higher English and mostly Nat 5's.

I left with one higher, I didn't really kind of stick at it, I mean I stuck till 6th year but wasn't really interested and then it was just a big gap, and decided to apply for college just for the hell of it and kind of ended up doing an honours degree......that was popular music

Harry

I left school with nothing, no higher's I then went and did NC sports then HNC/D..... I then did the HND and I hated that and decided after that I wasn't going to University or any further education and wanted to get a job

Joe.

I really liked school, loved school, home wasn't great, so school was good and the highest qualification I got was advanced higher in English....so I got highers and unconditional for college so didn't try in 6th year was about the social life

Katy

I really struggled at school I only recently got diagnosed in 2nd year at Uni with dyslexia....school wasn't a great place for me If I had that (diagnosis) at school would I have went to University quicker?, but I am glad I did my MA as it gave me a better outlook when it came to going to uni

Emma

4.3 Theme 2 – Journey into the current role

Four of the respondents had chosen their route into the role through a Modern Apprenticeship two of these were in youth work roles and two were in digitally focused posts either directly working with young people or based in the youth work service.

I was looking for work after the HND in Sports coaching and saw the apprenticeship in youth work and I hadn't even heard of apprenticeships and my dad explained...you learn on the job and do some college around it.

Joe

We heard a lot of things about apprenticeships and so I kinda thought I wanted to do that because it was getting experience while learning I didn't really know what sort of area......where to go into and then I saw the job description and thought it sounded fun.

Lucy

A friend of mine worked on the project and when the MA post came up they encouraged me to go for it....I have been in college places mainly creative stuff and then the apprenticeship came up and was creative but more focused on digital engagement with young people I had enjoyed working on another project with young people and thought sounded a great chance to combine my interests

Danny

The attraction of working and earning while learning new skills was the hook for three of the young people who entered the profession in their first roles as Modern apprentices within the youth work sector. Anderson (2021) identified one of the six components of intrinsic motivation as curiosity, a desire to learn and gain more knowledge of an area of interest. One of the common routes into CLD is often through being involved as a young person and Emma told the story of how she attended a local youth club which led her to volunteering and then paid employment.

so what happened was when it came up (MA Youthwork) Martin said I think you should go for it.....am so glad I did my modern apprenticeship as it gave me that outlook when it came to going to Uni and helped me with my studies...and my professional career.

Emma

Of the two respondents who had gone on to study Community Education and were now working in their first local authority Community Education worker posts, they both had experienced being involved in volunteering within local youth work. "A CEW asked do you want to help? ...so I helped at family nights then became a youth worker", Katy.

I started doing a music course at college and it spoiled the hobby...I was an active participant in the music group and began volunteering...doing junior music projects and was part of the centre development committee andthese are the things I do currently and enjoy and so applied for the course (HNC working in Communities) in that vein".

George.

From the two respondents who had joined the service having started down different paths and gained degrees in music and languages, we often hear described as 'I just fell into it'. A route into CLD posts for those who haven't previously been involved as young people have applied for a job that sounded as though it suited their interests and skills, this self-developed autonomy and interest (Anderson 2021) motivated them to try something new.

Doing the admin for youth work...getting to know people.....and it just happened by chancethe weekend work doing sessional work doing detached....

Harry

I have always had that interest in languages and then I also like the kind of youth work side of it, you know working with people and adult learners as wellenjoy the kind of process of learning and teaching languages

Michael

Situational interest described by Hidi & Harackiewicz (2000) uses the method of developing learning and interest and Harry describes an intervention by an employer that engaged him in a new area of work. From that experience, it provided a catalyst to apply for the post of communities assistant, and this extrinsic motivation has led to him further building his autonomy, a key component in building an individual's intrinsic motivation (Anderson 2021). Bloomer and Hodkinson's (2000, P.591) concept of relationships and culture and the influence of situational experiences can impact a young person's learning and meaning which is described by Harry in his journey.

Most respondents had the shared route that youth work was where their journey had begun, was now the service they occupied roles in, or their roles were predominately working with young people. From the conversations, there was a feeling that they all felt a sense of purpose, belonging, and curiosity the six key principles (Anderson 2021, p46) of intrinsic motivation were developing through gaining more knowledge in their roles.

41

4.4 Theme 3 - Motivation to work in current role

To understand young people's motivation to progress, I wanted to discover what motivated them to work in the roles they hold presently. Was their intrinsic motivation developing from working and did curiosity play a key part in decision-making around future learning for those I interviewed.

There was a clear link to the community education values of empowerment and inclusion (CLDSC 2018) coming through in the responses, with helping people and making an impact the main motivation for working in the sector.

I liked the idea I could still kind of help people, but without being directly involved.....but it was still kind of having a good impact on people...and I also like the creative aspect.

Emma

I enjoy working with young people and seeing them achieve, my work in the school I can see the young people achieve from what they are getting from the group, not the qualifications, but seeing them achieve in other things Joe

I was always finding jobs with wee groups that you feel you can make a difference like the underdogs, like I always felt like the people who didn't have a voice.....looked after kids, young offenders or high-risk teenagers who didn't always have someone saying positive about them

Katy

Being a participant in youth work services, I wanted to give back. After I had such a positive experience out of it, it then became my responsibility to try and facilitate the same thing for other people.

George

Identity and habitus discussed by Bloomer & Hodkinson (2000, p.592) describe similar findings in their study with young people in their learning careers. For some, the learning journey was not attributed to their previous school experiences, but how they described their feelings about their current roles suggests a transformation in their views on potential future careers.

4.5 Theme 4 - Lack of awareness of CLD

When exploring the question if respondents had considered further studies in the Community Education degree, this highlighted a barrier that I had not anticipated coming from those who were working directly in the local authority within CLD and youth work services. There was a clear lack of awareness of the role of a Community Education Worker and therefore what the degree would entail for those we are trying to encourage onto a pathway into the profession. Joe who had spent over six years in the service since starting as a Modern Apprentice in youth work and gained employment afterward in the CLD sector, said "I think I have an idea; I don't know as much about adult learning or other bits". This leads me to consider for those in youth work services, how much exposure or opportunities to share learning takes place to allow young people to discover other parts of the profession. I don't even know what a community education worker does in the council like I have never explored...I've not worked with a lot of comm ed workers really.....I don't know what they're day to day is like, if that was a career goal, I would need to know what that is

Danny

I think I would like to learn a bit more about what they do and so I would like to maybe shadow someone or something like that and see what a typical day is like and think more about it... they don't really talk about qualifications or anything like that they've had to do....

Lucy

Knew what youth work was. I didn't know what community education was at that point...I really didn't know what it was until I did the HNC.... I knew what social work and teaching was and I knew youth work was a thing and I think that's largely the case... folk don't realise that it's a whole set of professional values

George

In terms of this specific degree programme.... no to be honest something I'm still kinda learning about.... I might not have been aware of it, but yeah I mean youth work in general. Harry Young people experiencing and working in the youth work service are unaware of what the other parts of CLD involve and this suggests those who have never been involved in CLD are at more of a disadvantage of being able to know CLD is a career option. From the eight interviews, two were involved in other services before joining the CLD service but did not connect what they were involved with previously an aspect of what the community learning profession delivers. Joe reflected "I was involved in BB's (boys brigade) but didn't recognise that as youth work, but I know now it is a form of youth work" Harry "Yep never been involvedwas in employability, so working with people that are long term unemployed".

4.6 Theme 5 - Career Goals

The participants were asked about career goals when leaving school or if these had altered because of their current job role. Emma who has spent most of her experience in youth work and is now in her 3rd year of the CE degree is developing her motivating principle of curiosity to learn new skills;

"I am maybe wanting to do adult education now....I wasn't ready to do adult ed I felt like I wasn't taking seriously enough in the job.....now I feel like I am the age where I really enjoy it .

Emma

The responses varied and I felt that one of the six intrinsic motivating factors of interest plays a recurring theme. Michael responded, "I just went and studied languages through an interest without a particular career goal in mind".

No, not really I've just kind of felt like everything just sort of happened and that's been my way...i think that's symptomatic of CLD, I do joke about it, sometimes you just fall into it" George

Career goals realistically right now I don't see myself not doing youth work.....I feel very secure right now and I know I feel like I am in the right track in doing what I am doing.

Danny

Bloomer & Hodkinson's (2000, p.593) study identify

ies several characteristics and the following can be applied to the experiences of the young people in this study "the course which lives and learning careers took were never simply the products of rationally determined choices".

Young people's learning careers and lives course were often significantly affected by learning which occurred outside the scope of their formal education and training.

4.7 Theme 6 - Role Modeling

Through the discussions, external influences in the form of individuals often viewed as role models to young people can often be the catalyst for young people pursuing their first opportunity within the CLD sector. When talking about peers he works alongside Danny was animated when describing his project colleagues "It's good people I work with and are of a similar mindset and similar goals". Emma, when discussing her university placement experience, spoke positively. "Supervisors I had are actually amazing at what they do and are amazing in the field and I look up to them, they are role models in comm ed". Harry's experience in going from an admin role to getting involved in sessional youth work he highlights was through discussions that happened in the office, "It was Paul's idea to put me through the SVQ before I was in the role, so I think that's another reason why I've kind of progressed".

(Morgenroth et al 2015, Hoare et al 2015) outlined the motivational impact role modeling can play in impacting future aspirations if used as an intentional model of improving outcomes and in turn lead to future success for the individual.

4.8 Theme 7 - Apprehension/Fear of University

Of the eight respondents only, Michael went straight from school to Higher Education to study. Joe, Katy, and George had all chosen college courses that were in relation to an interest they had. Joe, "I didn't know what I wanted to do, I enjoyed sports/PE at school and so looked at courses". George "my backgrounds music really and so I started doing a music course at college". George and Joe both had commented that the subject had been spoiled by the academic element of the courses resulting in Joe choosing to opt for the modern apprenticeship in youth work and now after a few year years applying for the work-based degree in Community Education. Joe commented "I never thought I would say or even think about university again.

George, because of his volunteering, went to the HNC working with Communities course which then led to his route into the full-time Community Education degree. Katy secured her place on the HNC working with Communities while at school, which then led her to the fulltime degree course in Community Learning. Emma who had been volunteering in youth work from the age of fourteen years chose to go to college to do an HNC in additional support needs stemming from her interest in supporting those less able to follow academic structures, but after her experience, she reflected, "that's when I found out working in schools wasn't for me".

Through the conversations, their thoughts on studying at the degree level at university reinforced the literature around extrinsic barriers that are perceived by an individual's current place in society.

This research did not explicitly ask the participants about their economic or social backgrounds or where they identified their situations. As a general judgment arrived by me after spending time with the respondents and reflecting on the journeys they experienced, I would describe them as ordinary young people. The middle section of young people sits somewhere between those who are high academic achievers and those who don't achieve. (Playford and Gayle 2015) describe middle achievers' route to employment, after education as often quicker. This has similarities with those who were interviewed who left school and entered employment before considering higher education.

I will be the first person in my family to have gone to Uni, coming from working class, I was brought up to think you work and that has been a different route from my family.

Emma

It's a scary prospect to think of dedicating myself to a degree... have never done that before and I don't really know what it involves I think genuinely I think part of the reason.....is well I don't know what it is? so your saying 5 years to this thing and you don't know what it is.

Danny

It comes down to that whole kind of like time...cause the SVQ I'm struggling I'll put the time aside, but then something comes up and gets in the way.

Harry

Alongside these fears, the style of how people learn featured in the same discussions and, the perception of being taught in a similar style to school appeared to be a block to HE. For the majority of those interviewed, they all achieved qualifications, and as described by Sullo (2007) in the earlier literature if young people's experiences of academic motivation are based on school result achievements, those described in the 'middle' will question their competency levels and their disposition with learning when thinking about a journey to university (Anderson 2021, Bloomer & Hodkinson 2000).

Learning on the job and doing practical things is how I learn as opposed to sitting in a classroom....I like learning on the job and meeting new people that's how I get things to stick.

Joe

I did want to do comm ed and become a comm ed worker and at the start when I was yeah you need to go to Uni for that I was a bit like agggh that's not for me

Emma

4.9 Theme 8 - Development Support

The final question asked of all the interviewees was about their experience of support and supervision in their posts and the opportunities to undertake CPD. Most of the responses were all positive around opportunities to do further training, "100% yeah cannot fault it all and I keep my ear to the ground and see what's going and put my hand up if something pops up". Harry.

Yeah, in my role I think I'm very well supported in what we do and its brilliant.....there is active conversations all the time in one to ones I do, but its never been a conversation around further study in terms of my career.

Danny

I have really good managers that really want us to take up these opportunities or are willing to let us go and take time off to do these training opportunities and see the value in them which is amazing.

Emma

They're very good at accommodating, so I think if I did want to do more studies they'd like help me manage my time and things....I did a British sign language course a few months ago

Lucy

there's always things that come upI have done a lot of the basic training so far, like, you know child protection...and in terms of professional development we got awards training day like youth awards training

Michael

Primarily focus on my actual practice, but when bits of trainng pop up that I think that would be are really useful skill.. And there are bits of training that pop up... I'm well encouraged. George

At the moment, none I am offered, don't know anything about them, never had support and supervision, never had a 1-1 there were issues with manager, that is changing and have someone new.... already putting 1-1 time in diary..... If communities are saying I like this and that, I will see if I can find someone or go on a training course.

Katy

From the responses, the staff view ongoing development or support geared towards practical support in the workplace. They will often seek

out peer support or training that is of interest and will benefit them in their current role. There appears to be a lack of conversations or ad-hoc support around career development within the group I have spoken with.

4.10 External Influences on Future Learning

An area that was gained from the conversations was other extrinsic influences that evolved, for a couple of the participants not currently qualified for the CE degree and who had been in youth work roles for several years. They identified finance as an external motivator, this came from now reaching the realisation that further education is required to progress to better paid posts and the importance economic capital plays. As adolescents transition to adulthood the financial commitments of independence and social activities are expensive, and this is a strong influence for some of them to consider the possibility of entering higher education to obtain a degree to enable them to begin to climb the career ladder in the sector for financial gain.

The opportunity to move up and earn more money, there is only so long I can be a youth worker...but I have my own place and need a steady income.....having a degree will let me look for better jobs

Joe

Yeah if there had been enough hours in youth work I probably wouldn't have went to Uni... but then this would not be enough income to move out from my family home

Emma

I didn't want to go to further education until I was past 30....and I suppose at some point the financial incentive of doing a degree would make that decision.....opens doors to a better paid position

Danny

4.11 Summary of Findings

Understanding the role of motivation for the young workforce in CLD and the attributes associated with learning and a desire to progress in their current roles drew out the following themes from the data gathered.

- School experience and Qualifications
- Journey into current role
- Motivation to work in current role
- Lack of awareness of CLD
- Career Goals
- Role Modelling
- Fear/Apprehension of University
- Developmental Support

Educational attainment was not a major influencing motivation for the route into CLD, but for some the extrinsic motivator to gain a desirable academic qualification was an influenced by working towards a set goal. Personal factors associated with self-motivation, interest, creativity and desire to gain more knowledge through learning led to various pathway routes for young people in the research. Goal setting included examples from those interviewed included further education, securing employment, modern apprenticeships and HE. Social factors were evidenced that

developed from being involved as a young person in youth work, the influence of role models and most expressing a desire to help others. Cultural and societal factors attached to university expectations were evident, both from a learning perspective, but also a lack of knowledge of what a degree in Community Education would entail.

I will now go on to further discuss in detail the findings.

5. Discussion and Analysis of Findings

5.1 Introduction

The research question "an exploration into young practitioners' motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects in CLD", stemmed from knowledge gained from experience and previous research (CLDSC 2019, Hunter 2020) that the professional CLD sector had an aging workforce and only a small number below the age of 35 years were professionally qualified in the sector. It is these elements that have led me to explore through semi-structured interviews with the younger workforce employed in the sector, their motivation to advance to further study to become qualified in the professional degree of Community Education. I examined the literature;

(1) The background context to the CLD learning landscape in Scotland

(2) Current theories around the topics of Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation for learning

(3) The effects of motivation on academic outcomes and career choices

(4) The impact on learning from a personal and socio-economical perspective and how this can influence perceptions on obtainable academic qualifications.

(5) Role modeling and the importance this plays in supporting motivation

This provided the opportunity to investigate the role the CLD sector can play in supporting the young workforce through a series of questions and led to several themes that allowed for analysis to respond to the research question.

5.2 Educational experience and qualifications

Adolescence is known to be a critical period for the development of academic motivation and experience in school can be the earliest introduction to learning to achieve (Sullo 2017). School experience and qualifications can provide both intrinsic and extrinsic motivations for young people when they have a particular career focus and Table 1, p.28 highlights the various educational achievements of the sampled young people currently employed in the CLD sector. There was no indication from the respondents of a particularly bad experience with school achievement, therefore it is difficult to evidence in this sample if school or personal experience impacted internal motivations for those who did not initially enter further academic learning. The young people who entered the pathway route of HNC Working with communities appeared to be intrinsically motivated by their involvement in volunteering, but it was not clear if they set out to achieve the necessary qualifications required to achieve this goal or was an unintended advantage. There are a variety of pathways for young people who are not academic achievers to build on their qualifications through undertaking a variety of qualifications (CLDSC 2020, p.9) but from those working in the field, there is a lack of awareness of what's available in their workplace. It is recommended that employers produce clear progression training pathways about the CLD sector (where this is not available) that form part of an overall training strategy for young people in the field.

Parental expectations and support can play a role in extrinsic motivation and there were examples of this from those interviewed, however, this was not a key area of the research and would need further exploration into the importance of family support. A further area to consider in further research is if learning disabilities, teaching methods, and peer relationships impact negatively on learning motivation. This combination of external complexities can impact an individual's motivation to engage in tasks and does this then impact or delay a decision to return to academic study when there is no support provided?

5.3 Routes and motivation in current roles

The posts held by those in the sample demonstrate a diverse landscape of entry points into the CLD sector. The posts they had applied for created desirability for those young people, one of the six principles of intrinsic motivation (Anderson 2021. P.49). Personally held skills and interests in areas of sports, language, and creative arts were a motivator to apply and the ability to use these in work was the attraction to some of the specific posts. Once working in these posts, the individual's enjoyment (fun) and (belonging) with peers and teams created self-motivation and (curiosity) forming their intrinsic motivation and (autonomy) to increase their skill development and potentially drive future career choices.

Self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci 2000) proposes that people are motivated when they are engaged and foster a sense of ability to achieve which leads to a sense of autonomy within. Within these early career roles, this willingness should be fostered and guided by those more experienced staff in the CLD sector. It suggests from the findings that those young people who were still in the early years of their current roles and had not yet considered further study to the degree were currently satisfied with their engagement in their current roles. For those who had been in their roles for several years and experienced supportive working

56

environments their further learning desire emerged from situational interest (Hidi & Rinniger 2006). As they developed their sense of competence in their roles and built their self-determination to now becoming intrinsically motivated to develop their career goals.

Modern apprenticeships were highlighted as a successful route for 50% of those in their current roles. This sample group was previously described as the middle group of young people by Playford & Gayle (2006), who have not yet developed their sense of career aspirations or selfdetermination due to not being high academic flyers. They described the attraction to the apprenticeship model to build on their qualifications and provided a manageable and supportive theoretical building block to allow them to build competence in their roles. Modern apprenticeships within the sector are not readily available across every local authority and this is due to the financial constraints or the design of services to provide these opportunities. From this small sample, it has proved to be a valuable investment in the young workforce as all have remained in posts within the sector and are considering a future qualified degree route to enhance their career in the CLD sector. A recommendation would be for the sector to invest funding in these trainee posts to build a potential future CLD workforce.

5.4 Lack of awareness of the sector

The surprising finding that evolved through the interviews was the lack of awareness of the roles that CLD workers occupied. It became clear that those who occupy the unqualified roles did not have a clear understanding or knowledge of what was required in these professionally qualified CLD posts. The expectancy requirements of being in a higher status job are assumed. Expectancy value theory discussed by Wigfield & Eccles (2000) connects with a perceived extrinsic barrier that has been created by the young workforce when discussing progression to a qualified role. It would suggest for those who occupy these junior roles, their interaction with those in more established professional roles portrays an unachievable goal status that has been influenced by their lack of understanding and knowledge of what is required or expected in a professionally qualified CLD role. Without this knowledge and coaching this can directly impact "performance, effort, and persistence" (Wigfield & Eccles 2000:69). This would suggest that further work is required by those who have a responsibility to supervise the young workforce to prepare them and create a self-belief in their abilities. Coaching to undertake different tasks and experiences within the wider team roles was suggested by those interviewed, in opportunities such as job shadowing and clear communication on what the learning qualifications at a degree level involve.

5.5 Career Goals

There was a sense of a lack of real intentional career goals for the majority of those interviewed. In the literature research, a study by Yoo and Huang (2013) discussed short-term extrinsic motivation and long-term extrinsic motivation in the workplace. If we are to develop the young workforce in the CLD sector, then introducing career development goals as part of their workplace learning would allow young people to build their self-belief in their abilities to progress to become our next generation of professional CLD workers. Motivational work theory (Deci & Ryan 1989) connects with extrinsic motivation and recommends that supported performance in the workplace and career development can lead to self-motivation for learning. This would suggest that when looking at young people in the CLD workforce in this sampled age category providing learning opportunities linked to improving performance and progression

can contribute to an engaged young workforce's progress. An area not explored in this research was the staff made aware of the professional body CLD Standards Council. This would provide an opportunity to become associate members and access further information from their website, newsletters, and website for professional learning I-develop.

5.6 Role Modeling

Having identified role models who are successful in their roles can act as an extrinsic motivator for young people and when they feel they can identify themselves with other people from similar backgrounds or situations can inspire the young workforce to believe in possibilities. The research did not explore the social backgrounds of those in the study and would recommend this as an area for further exploration. Role models may not be aware of this influence on others but Hoare et al (2013) explored reciprocal role modelling in nursing and when this was adopted as a deliberate method the benefits were experienced by all involved. Relationships play a fundamental role in adopting this as a deliberate performance motivator and CLD worker's core values of building and sustaining relationships (CLDSC 2018) would suggest that when this is applied to relationships with the younger workforce the learning will build self-determination and a belief in their abilities. Professional gualified staff can also claim this as genuine CPD time spent when mentoring young employees.

5.7 Development Opportunities

Supportive workplace environments that foster autonomy, competence, and a sense of belonging can enhance the intrinsic motivation for career development. In discussing the opportunities for further learning all the young workforce responded feeling supported and encouraged to undertake learning relating to their role. However, there was a weakness in the use of sitting down with the young employees to discuss their future career roles and reflect on their current positions, achievements, and abilities. This support would provide direction in goal setting for further learning progression into pathway routes for professional CLD roles. This lack of support could negatively impact their intrinsic motivation and selfdetermination and therefore the importance of these discussions taking place as a regular development activity alongside the practical training element is vital as extrinsic motivation has proved to be successful for those staff where this was evidenced.

5.8 Summary

From the findings of the young employees who were employed in the CLD sector, there were both intrinsic and extrinsic motivational factors that influenced their journey into their current roles. These factors will interplay in an individual's career journey and as a CLD professional who is dedicated to growing the learning culture (CLDSC 2018), I would recommend from these findings that we must commit to all those individuals who enter the CLD sector as employees. In the same vein, we engage learners in the communities in which we work. We need to invoke extrinsic methods to provide work goals and feedback to build on an individual's self-motivation for learning. As value-based professional empowerment and promotion of learning as a lifelong activity, the sector should ensure a learner-centered approach to the training and development of young practitioners' motivation to study and progress in their careers.

6. Conclusion

In conclusion, this work-based research aimed to explore young practitioner's motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects in CLD. Through semi-structed interviews carried out with eight young employees, aimed to discuss the experiences of learning and motivation held by young practitioners and the ongoing support for them to consider further progression in their current post.

The findings from the research identify that young people working in the field are positively motivated to work in their roles stemming from interest in working with people and contributing to making an impact and empowering others to learn. The challenge for the profession when supporting the young workforce is to ensure that as these young people are employed in roles for their practical skills we engage them in the theoretical principles, purpose, and values of Community Learning in its widest sense.

The local authorities with staff that were directly involved in the research would benefit from considering the investment in Modern apprenticeships as this proved to be successful in helping to build the knowledge and skills needed in the initial stages of a career in the CLD sector. Individuals' selfdetermination and motivation can be increased by being involved in structured career learning and have a positive effect on future career choices to stay in the profession. A clear objective of ongoing professional development discussions built into current support and supervision structures should include a focus on career development.

From the findings, a lack of awareness was highlighted of what a professional qualification in community learning involves. There is a role for the professional body CLDSC to further promote CLD and the pathway routes. The introductory available pathway routes into the sector, from the findings suggests that this would enable young people to build their levels of competence and skills in the workplace and with the right levels of support can enhance their abilities and confidence to be able to consider entering higher education to study at degree level. Employers, CLDSC, and the CLD departments of the Further and Higher Education institutions should ensure a presence through career development days at the stage when young people are considering future career choices.

The findings gave us examples of encouragement and external motivation coming from supervisors and line managers and suggested role modelling should be considered in the whole CLD team when there are young employees. If young people are to understand the entirety of the community learning profession the findings suggest that more is required to provide opportunities for conversations with qualified professionals in their day-to-day roles and provide job shadowing. This is crucial if we are to seriously support and develop those whom we are aiming to encourage as the next generation of Community Education Workers.

Lifelong learning is a fundamental value of the CLD profession and is true for all employees who also work in the sector. Workforce development is a commitment of all the four authorities where the research was focused, and the Tayside & Fife CPD CLD Alliance would benefit from making a key commitment to more pathway route courses to develop the young workforce for a career progression into professionally qualified roles.

The findings from this research were a small-scale snapshot of the areas where we see that CLD played an integral input in developing the motivation of young people to enter the CLD sector. Young people have been successfully supported to go and develop their careers by undertaking the professional degree programme. Further research with

62

the young workforce would benefit from exploring the wider social class or status and the impact of motivation for further study on their career decisions. Using the theories of motivation and self–determination would allow for the exploration of how different people experience motivation. Further research on the importance of role models within the family setting and externally, would also enable a detailed understanding of the benefits and implications of providing structured models of mentoring roles within the CLD sector.

Support in the workplace for employees to undertake work-based degree programmes is an attractive method for employees to enable them to continue to work and earn financially while undertaking further qualifications. This option is only currently available in one of the four institutions delivering the degree-based programme and would recommend this is an option that higher education institutions consider going forward in their future professional approval with the CLDSC. There is a role for both Dundee University and the CLDSC to promote positive case studies from the current cohort of students undertaking this route of study to highlight the benefits experienced by these students. The higher education establishments by providing this work-based route will allow them to become a more attractive consideration for young employees who for several reasons highlight perceived barriers to attending University.

A further recommendation for employers in the sector would be to allow more professionally qualified staff to undertake master's degree research, which would involve support within the workplace to have the time to dedicate to learning. Financial support would provide extrinsic motivation for the continuation of professionally qualified staff to go on and undertake the study.

Further work–based research would allow the CLD sector to build a body of research for the sector and the opportunity that I was given in my work role to carry out this research has further highlighted my motivation to improve the current structure of support for young employees, whilst building my theoretical knowledge of the varying motivational factors that drive young practitioners to study and progress in their careers.

7. Recommendations

This was a small study detailed in the limitations of this research and further investigation with the young workforce would allow for a deeper understanding of learning experiences across Scotland. Additional areas that have evolved as a result of this research are:

- The CLDSC continue to support their action to secure and support the minimum level of local programme provision in each region. (CLDSC 2020 p28).
- 2. Clear training progression pathways about CLD are made clear by the employers of young people in the CLD sector
- Modern apprenticeships in the CLD sector should be an increased investment by employers and positive case study examples shared with CLDSC to promote to the wider profession.
- Employers of young people into the sector ensure there are shared learning experiences and opportunities for job shadowing across the various aspects of a professional CLD role (where this is possible)
- 5. Methods of formal role modelling are adopted by employers for the young workforce in CLD that ensures they are learning from a range of experienced staff, and this is a shared CPD experience for all involved
- Career development is a deliberate feature of young employees' support and supervision and all learning is discussed as a reflectional process that supports career goal setting for the future.

7.1 Sharing of Findings

I plan to circulate the findings of this study by:

Sharing the report with colleagues in the profession, the Tayside and Fife CPD CLD Alliance, and the CLDSC. As a member of the Alliance and a member of the approvals committee of the CLDSC, I believe these are platforms that are represented by professionals from a broad range of the sector and can actively look at ways to implement some of the key findings. By working collaboratively across these associations, we can begin to establish areas of change required to ensure that the next generation of CLD workers are actively engaged in learning that supports their career development into a professional degree.

8. References

Anderson, M. (2021) *Tackling the motivation crisis : how to activate student learning without behavior charts, pizza parties, or other hard-toquit incentive systems*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision & Curriculum Development. [Accessed: 20 April 2023].

Angus Council (2023) [online] available at: <u>Community Learning and</u> <u>Development Plan 2021 to 2024 | Angus Council</u> [Accessed 11 August 2023]

Ansell, N., Froerer, P., & Huijsmans, R. (2022). Young People's Aspirations in an Uncertain World: Taking Control of the Future? Sociological Research Online, 27(4), 795–802. https://doi.org/10.1177/13607804221133116

Asselin, M.E. (2003) 'Insider research', Journal for Nurses in Staff

Development (JNSD), 19(2), pp. 99-103. doi:10.1097/00124645-

200303000-00008. [accessed 22 July 2023]

Bell, J. (2018) *Doing your research project : a guide for first-time researchers*. Seventh edition. London: Open University Press.

Blaxter L, Hughes C, and Tight M. (2010) *How to Research*. 4th Edition. Berkshire: Open University Press.

Bloomer, M. and Hodkinson, P. (2000) <u>'Learning Careers: Continuity and</u> <u>change in young people's dispositions to learning'</u>, British educational research journal. Received 19 July 1999; resubmitted 16 December 1999; accepted 16 December 1999, 26(5), pp. 583–597. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01411920020007805</u>. Bourdieu, P (1984) *Distinction: A social critique of the Judgement of Taste*. London; New York:Routledge, Taylor and Francis Group

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2022) *Thematic analysis : a practical guide*. Los Angeles: SAGE.

Burrow, A.L., O'Dell, A.C. & Hill, P.L. (2010) *Profiles of a Developmental Asset: Youth Purpose as a Context for Hope and Well-Being. J Youth Adolescence* **39**, 1265–1273 . <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-009-9481-1</u> [accessed 21 May 2023]

Corbin Dwyer, S., & Buckle, J. L. (2018). *Reflection/Commentary on a Past Article: "The Space Between: On Being an Insider-Outsider in Qualitative Research*":

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/160940690900800105. International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 17(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918788176 [accessed 22 July 2023]

CLD Standards Council (2015). Growing the learning culture in CLD: A Strategy Statement and a Framework for Action [online] Available at: <u>Professional Development Strategy | CLD Standards Council for Scotland</u> [Accessed 24 July 2023]

CLD Standards Council Scotland (2018). *The Competent Practitioner Framework*. [online] Available at: <u>https://cldstandardscouncil.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/CompetentPractitionerFramework.pdf</u> [Accessed 21 Feb. 2023].

CLD Standards Council Scotland (2022). CLD Standards Council for Scotland | Professional Learning. [online] CLDStandardsCouncil.org. Available at: <u>https://cldstandardscouncil.org.uk/</u> [Accessed 6 March 2023].

CLD Standards Council Scotland (2021) Why Employers in the public and 3rd sectors need professional CLD practitioners, Glasgow: CLDSC

CLD Standards Council Scotland (2020) *Review of Career Pathways for Community Learning and Development*, Glasgow: CLDSC

CLD Standards Council Scotland (2018) *Working with Scotland's Communities*, Glasgow: CLDSC

CLD Standards Council Scotland *Historically Approved Training Courses* available at <u>https://cldstandardscouncil.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/HistoricallyApprovedTraining20160711.pdf</u> [Accessed 6 March 2023]

Coghlan, D. (2019) *Doing Action Research in Your Own Organisation* (5th ed). London Sage Publications

Deci, E. L., Connell, J. P., & Ryan, R. M. (1989). Self-determination in a work organization. Journal of Applied Psychology, 74, 4, 580-590

Denscombe, M. (2010) *Ground Rules for Social Research: Guidelines for Good Practice*. 2nd ed. Berkshire: Open University Press

Denscombe, M. (2010) *The Good Research Guide: For small-scale social research projects*. 4th ed. Berkshire: Open University Press

Domene, J. F., Socholotiuk, K. D., & Woitowicz, L. A. (2011). *Academic motivation in post-secondary students: Effects of career outcome expectations and type of aspiration*. Canadian Journal of Education / Revue Canadienne de l'éducation, 34(1), 99–127.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/canajeducrevucan.34.1.99 [Accessed 16 August 2023]

Dundee City Council (2023) [online] available at: <u>Community Learning and</u> <u>Development (CLD) | Dundee City Council</u> [Accessed 11 August 2023]

Education Scotland (2022). *Community Learning and Development Planning 2021 – 2024* | *Self-evaluation* | National Improvement Hub. [online] education.gov.scot. Available at: https://education.gov.scot/resources/community-learning-anddevelopment-planning-2021-2024/#:~:text=CLD%20plans%20describe%20priorities%20of%20CLD%2 0partners%20 in [Accessed 3 May 2023].

Education Scotland (2021). *What Scotland Learned: building back better*. [online] education.gov.scotland. Available at:

https://education.gov.scot/media/zmddfjc3/what-scotland-learned-buildingback-better.pdf [Accessed 27 Apr. 2023].

Fife Council (2023) [online] available at <u>Fife Council Jobs and Careers</u> <u>Careers</u> [Accessed 11 August 2023]

Fine, M.A (2022) *Distinctions between Scientific Misconduct and Bias in Social Science: Avoidable versus Unavoidable Deviations from Best Practices in Research*, Marriage & Family Review, 58:1, 89-100, DOI: <u>10.1080/01494929.2021.1923610</u>

Forbes, G. (2023) *The youth work needs of young people in Fife after the coronavirus pandemic* Glenrothes, Fife (to be published September 2023)

Freire P (1970) Pedagogy of the Oppressed UK: Penguin

Gormally, S., Coburn, A. and Beggan, E. (2021) '*Idealistic Assertions or Realistic Possibilities in Community and Youth Work Education*', *Education Sciences*, 11(9), p. 561. doi:10.3390/educsci11090561 [Accessed 20 May 2023]

Gillen-O'Neel, C., & Fuligni, A. (2013). A Longitudinal Study of School Belonging and Academic Motivation Across High School. *Child Development*, *84*(2), 678–692. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/23469357</u> [Accessed 20 May 2023]

Hayton A, and Paczuska A. (2002) *Access, Participation and Higher Education : Policy and Practice*. London: Routledge (The Future of Education From 14+). Available at: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=1024 85&authtype=shib&site=ehost-live&scope=site [Accessed: 5 Feb 2023]

Hidi, S. and Harackiewicz, J.M. (2000) '*Motivating the academically unmotivated: A critical issue for the 21st century*', Review of educational research, 70(2), pp. 151–179.

Available at: https://doi.org/10.2307/1170660.[accessed 5 Feb 2023]

Hidi, S., & Rinninger, K.A (2006). *The Four phase model of interest development*. Educational Psychologist, 41(2), 111-127. doi:10.1207/s15326985ep4102_4

Hoare, K.J., Mills, J. and Francis, K. (2013) 'Becoming willing to role model. Reciprocity between new graduate nurses and experienced practice nurses in general practice in New Zealand: A constructivist grounded theory', *Collegian (Royal College of Nursing, Australia)*, 20(2), pp. 87–93. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2012.03.009</u>. [Accessed

Howard, J.L., Bureau, J., Guay, F., Chong, J., & Ryan, R.M. (2021). Student motivation and associated outcomes: A meta-analysis from selfdetermination theory. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 16, 1300– 1323

Hunter, C. (2020) Understanding how we grow the young Community

Learning and Development Workforce. Available at: I-develop (2023)

online available at :https://www.i-

<u>developcld.org.uk/course/view.php?id=176</u> [Accessed: 23 March 2023].

Indeed 2023 online <u>www.uk.indeed.com</u> available at: <u>Job Search | Indeed</u> [Accessed 12 August 2023]

Jeffs, T. (2018). *Looking Over Our Shoulders: Youth Work and its History*. SAGE Publications Ltd, <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526416438</u> [accessed 23 March 2023]

Ledwith M, Springett J (2010) *Participatory Practice: Community based action for transformative change*, Bristol, Policy Press

Ledwith, M. (2020). *Community Development: a critical and radical approach*. 3rd ed. Bristol: Policy Press.

Lillrank, A (2012) 'Managing the Interviewer self', in *The sage handbook* of interview research: The complexity of the craft. Thousand Oaks: SAGE.

McKinney, S. J., Graham, A., Hall, S., Hunter, K., Jaap, A., Lowden, K.,

MacDougall, L., McKendrick, J. H., Mtika, P., Moscardini, L., Reid, L.,

Ritchie, M., Robson, D., Shanks, R., Stettin, S., and Wilson, A. (2023).

Beyond the Pandemic – Poverty and School Education in

Scotland. Scottish Educational Review 54, 2, 238-264, Available From:

Brill <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/27730840-20231002</u> [Accessed 03 September 2023]

Mcknight, A. and Reeves, R. (2017) Glass floors and slow growth: a

recipe for Deepening inequality and hampering social mobility, British politics and policy at LSE,

https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/politicsandpolicy/glass-floors-and-slow-growth/

[Accessed 25 August 2023]

Mackie, Sercombe, H., & Ryan, A. (2013). *A service, a "way of working", or a profession? A discourse analysis of community education/community learning and development in Scotland*. Discourse (Abingdon, England), *34*(3), 394–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2012.717192</u> [Accessed 23 March 2023]

Madjar, N., Cohen, V., & Shoval, G. (2018). Longitudinal analysis of the trajectories of academic and social motivation across the transition from elementary to middle school. Educational Psychology, 38, 221–247 [Accessed 10 June 2023]

Morgenroth, T., Ryan, M. K., & Peters, K. (2015). The Motivational Theory of Role Modeling: How Role Models Influence Role Aspirants Goals. Review of General Psychology, 19(4), 465-483. https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000059 [Accessed 23 August 2023] Moses, J.W. and Knutsen, T. (2007) *Ways of knowing : competing methodologies and methods in social and political research*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

My jobs Scotland (online) can be accessed at <u>Search | myjobscotland</u> [12 August 2023]

Nowicka, M & Ryan, L (2015). Beyond Insiders and Outsiders in Migration Research: Rejecting A Priori Commonalities. Introduction to the FQS Thematic Section on "Researcher, Migrant, Woman: Methodological Implications of Multiple Positionalities in Migration Studies" [34 paragraphs]. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 16(2), Art. 18,

http://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:0114-fqs1502183. [accessed 22 July 2023]

Nubiola, J. (2020) '*Attention and Education: Key Ideas from Charles S. Peirce', in Desire and Human Flourishing*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 275–290. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-</u> <u>47001-2_19</u>. [accessed 10 June 2023]

OECD (2021), *Scotland's Curriculum for Excellence: Into the Future*, Implementing Education Policies, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/bf624417-en.[Accessed</u> 17 July 2023] Perth and Kinross Council (online) available at <u>Community Learning and</u> <u>Development - Perth & Kinross Council (pkc.gov.uk)</u> [Accessed 11 August 2023]

Playford, C,J. & Gayle, V (2016) *The concealed middle? An exploration of ordinary young people and school GCSE subject area attainment*, Journal of Youth Studies, 19:2, 149-168, DOI: <u>10.1080/13676261.2015.1052049</u> [Accessed 27 August 2023]

Ryan, R.M. and Deci, E.L. (2000) 'Self-Determination Theory and the Facilitation of Intrinsic Motivation, Social Development, and Well-Being', The American psychologist, 55(1), pp. 68–78. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68. [Accessed 7 August 2023]

Sarantakos, S. (2005) *Social research*. 3rd ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.

Schwan, A. (2021) *Perceptions of Student Motivation and Amotivation, The Clearing House*: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas, 94:2, 76-82, DOI: <u>10.1080/00098655.2020.1867490</u> [Accessed 17 July 2023]

Schinkel, A. et al. (2023) '*Human Flourishing, Wonder, and Education', Studies in philosophy and education*, 42(2), pp. 143–162. [Accessed 10 June 2023] Scottish Funding Council Higher Education Students and Qualifiers at Scottish Institutions 2018-19: Executive Summary SFC/ST/04/2020 [Accessed 18 June 2023]

Scottish Government (2004) *Working and Learning Together to Build Stronger Communities* (W.A.L.T.). Edinburgh: Scottish Government.

Scottish Government (2007). The Standards Council for Community Learning and Development in Scotland. [online] <u>www.gov.scot</u>. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/standards-council-community-</u> <u>learning-development-scotland/</u> [Accessed 24 Apr. 2023].

The Scottish Government (2012) *Strategic guidance for community planning partnerships: Community learning and development, Scottish Government.* Available at

https://www.gov.scot/publications/strategic-guidance-community-planningpartnerships-community-learning-development/ [Accessed: 23 July 2023].

Scottish Government (2013) *The requirements for Community Learning and Development (Scotland) regulations 2013* (2013) *Legislation.gov.uk.* Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ssi/2013/175/made</u> [Accessed: 23 July 2023].

The Scottish Government (2018) *Community empowerment (Scotland)* act: Summary, Scottish Government. Available at: https://www.gov.scot/publications/community-empowerment-scotland-actsummary/ [Accessed: 23 July 2023].

Scottish Government (2020) Community learning and development plans:

guidance - 2021 to 2024.

Available at: <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/cld-plans-guidance-note/pages/6/</u> [Accessed: 23 July 2023].

Scottish Government (2020), *Summary statistics for attainment and initial leaver destinations, No. 2: 2020 Edition,* <u>https://www.gov.scot/publications/summary-statistics-attainment-initial-leaver-destinations-no-2-2020-edition/pages/2/</u> [accessed on 18 August 2023]

Scottish Government (2021) *Scotland's Wellbeing: The impact of COVID-19*, Edinburgh, Scottish Government [Accessed 12 April 2023]

Shockley, C. and Thompson, A. (2012) 'Youth Workers in college: A

Replicable model for professional development, Children and Youth Services Review, 34(4), pp. 735–

739. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.12.019. [accessed 10 June 2023]

Smith, Z.R., Flax, M., Becker, S.P. and Langberg, J. (2023), Academic motivation decreases across adolescence for youth with and without attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: Effects of motivation on academic success. J Child Psychol Psychiatr, 64: 1303-1313. <u>https://doiorg.libezproxy.dundee.ac.uk/10.1111/jcpp.13815</u> [accessed 18 August 2023]

Steffes J.S (2004) *Creating Powerful Learning Environments: Beyond the Classroom , Change*: The Magazine of Higher Learning, 36:3, 46-50, DOI: 10.1080/00091380409605580 [accessed 18 August 2023]

Stopforth, S. Gayle, V. & Boeren. E (2021) Parental social class and school GCSE outcomes: two decades of evidence from UK household panel surveys, Contemporary Social Science, 16:3, 309-324, DOI: <u>10.1080/21582041.2020.1792967#</u> [Accessed 27 August 2023]

Sullo, R.A. (2007) *Activating the desire to learn*. Alexandria, Va: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Tayside and Fife Alliance (2018) *Developing an Understanding of Professional Learning in CLD*, Dundee City Council Comms, Dundee Thomas, G. (2013) *How to do your research project : a guide for students in education and applied social sciences*. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Thompson, A. and Shockley, C. (2013) '*Developing youth workers: Career ladders for sector stability*', Children and youth services review, 35(3), pp. 447–452. Available at:

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2012.12.019.[Accessed 25 March 2023]

Urdan, Tim (2002) *Academic Motivation of Adolescents*. Greenwich, Conn: Information Age Publishing (Adolescence and Education Series). Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=nlebk&AN=4696 93&authtype=shib&site=ehost-live&scope=site [Accessed: 16 August 2023].

Webb. S, Burke, P.J, Nichols, S, Roberts, S, Stahl, G, Threadgold, S. &
Wilkinson, J. (2017) *Thinking with and beyond Bourdieu in widening higher education participation*, Studies in Continuing Education, 39:2, 138-160, DOI: <u>10.1080/0158037X.2017.1302926</u> [Accessed 18 August 2023]

Wigfield, & Eccles, J. S. (2000). *Expectancy–Value Theory of Achievement Motivation*. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 25(1), 68–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1999.1015</u> [Accessed 25 August 2023] Wang, M. & Eccles, J. (2013) School context, achievement motivation, and academic engagement: A longitudinal study of school engagement using a multidimensional perspective, Learning and Instruction, Volume 28, 2013, Pages 12-23, ISSN 0959-4752,

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.04.002.

(https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0959475213000327) [Accessed 18 August 2023]

University of Dundee (online) can be accessed at <u>Community Education</u> <u>Work Based Route BA (Hons) | University of Dundee</u> [Accessed 23 August 2023}

Wentzel, K. R., & Wigfield, A. (1998). *Academic and Social Motivational Influences on Students' Academic Performance*. Educational Psychology Review, 10(2), 155–175. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/23359423</u> [Accessed 5 August 2023]

Yin, R.K., 2009. Case study research: Design and methods (Vol. 5). Sage.

Yoo, S.J & Huang, W.D (2013) Engaging Online Adult learners in Higher Education: Motivational factors Impacted Gender, Age and prior experiences, The journal of Continuing Higher Education, 61:3, 151-164, DOI:10.1080/07377363.2013.836823

https://doi.org/10.1080/07377363.2013.836823 [Accessed 29 August 2023]

Youth Borders (2021) *A Force for Good, Amplifying the third sector*, Youth Borders, Hawick

Appendix 1

Research questions

(these will not be asked in sequenctional order for all taking part and will adapt dependent on the direction of the conversation with the participant)

What is your current position and how long have you worked in this position?

What has been your experience of education up till now?

Are you able to give me an indication of your current highest qualification?

What is your motivation to work in your current position?

What is your current career goal? Career Motivation

Have you considered further study in the field of CLD? (Explanation may be required dependant on role if in YW, AL, CCB)

Are you aware of the qualifications in the field you are working in? Can you name any and where or how you can take part locally?

To get professional accreditation in CLD you require to hold the degree? Do you plan to at some point go onto the degree? If No, why not? If yes, talk me through the steps you intend to take to get there.

Are there current barriers for you to undertake further study in this field of work? Can you expand on these?

What support would you require to consider undertaking further study?

Have your received support and supervision in your role? If yes, do you discuss ongoing CPD?

If no, how do you find out about CPD opportunities?

Appendix 2

Ethical Approval for Non-Clinical Research Involving Human Participants

Name of Applicant	Vicky Wilson
Module/Group application	Yes
Module Code(s) (where applicable)	PD50206
School	Humanities, Social Sciences and Law
University e-mail Address	2472739@dundee.ac.uk
Title of Project	"An exploration of young practitioners'
	motivation towards further study to enhance
	their career prospects"
Co-Investigators (with internal	
School or external organisational	
affiliation)	
Projected Start Date	March 2023
Estimated End Date	August 2023
Funder (if applicable)	Fife Council
Version of Application (1, 2, 3)*	1

FORM A: Application for ethical approval for low risk projects

* After revision, please update the version number before re-submission.

Students Only	
Level of Study (Undergraduate (UG);	RPG
Taught Postgraduate (TPG);	
Research Postgraduate (RPG)	
Name of University of Dundee	Dr Alan Mackie
Supervisor	

Note: Students must copy in their supervisor when submitting the application for review.

1. Project Overview

Please provide, with reference to the relevant literature, an overview of the research project providing a <u>short</u> explanation (maximum 400 words) of the research questions the project will address and why the study is justified.

Please write this section in a way that is accessible to a person who is not an expert in your field.

Previous Community Learning workforce research (Tayside and Fife 2018; CLDSC 2020; Force for Good, 2021) has identified the Community Learning and Development (CLD) profession has an aging workforce and suggested that more needs to be done to support the young workforce onto a recognised pathway into the Community Education degree programme. The Community Education degree is the professionally accredited route by the Scottish Community Learning Development Standard Council (CLDSC).

From my own professional working experience, I am aware of a variety of staff in differing part-time and full-time posts within the sector but are not currently taking this further through accredited routes available. Through the research I aim to explore with those in the younger age group bracket (under 35 years) their current motivation to work in their current roles, their awareness of further learning opportunities in the profession and identify potential barriers or challenges they consider may prevent access to further learning or training. The literature I feel relevant around this research is around professionalisation of community learning investigating strands in youth work, adult learning and community development. Continuing professional development (CPD) in the workplace, practice-based learning and motivation and goals are all relevant to the research topic.

Many staff working in the field may not be aware of the routes to learning available or have access to CPD opportunities and through this research can widen knowledge of available pathway routes whilst identifying gaps that can be presented to the learning providers who organise CPD for CLD staff through the Tayside Alliance, this is a regional network of CLD practitioners who work collaboratively to support professional development through the sharing of expertise, training and resources to increase positive outcomes in the profession.

Potential research questions

What is your current position and how long have you worked in this position?

What has been your experience of education up till now?

Are you able to give me an indication of your current highest qualification?

What is your motivation to work in your current position?

What is your current career goal?

Have you considered further study in the field of CLD? (Explanation may be required dependent on role if in YW, AL, CCB)

Are you aware of the qualifications in the field you are working in? Can you name any and where or how you can take part locally?

To get professional accreditation in CLD you require to hold the degree? Do you plan to at some point go onto the degree? If No, why not? If yes, talk me through the steps you intend to take to get there.

Are there current barriers for you to undertake further study in this field of work? Can you expand on these?

What support would you require to consider undertaking further study?

Have your received support and supervision in your role? If yes, do you discuss ongoing CPD?

If no, how do you find out about CPD opportunities?

I would aim to share the results of the research with the Tayside and Fife CLD Alliance, this would inform this network how local learning pathway routes for those currently employed in the areas, and the professional development support required to engage these staff into further learning and into the CLD degree. The results will also be of use to the CLDSC who can nationally use the findings to discuss with learning providers if the current course offers meet the needs of this workforce.

2. Aims and Objectives

What are the aims and objectives of the project?

- The aim will be to improve access to existing entry level learning and qualifications for those interested in CLD as a career choice
- To understand the barriers that are preventing younger age groups currently practising in the CLD field to progressing to qualifications in the field who are working in the Fife and Tayside regions
- To ascertain if young staff have the same access to opportunities to upskill through further learning opportunities
- To discover if younger staff are supported to study while in the workplace

3. Research Design and Methods

Please describe the design of your study and the research methods including information about any tasks or measuring instruments (validated or otherwise) that you will be using. *If you are using non-validated instruments (e.g., surveys or questionnaires*¹

you have designed, interview questions, observation protocols for ethnographic work or topic lists for unstructured data collection) please attach a copy to this ethics application.

I intend to conduct semi-structured interviews with themed questions to generate discussion around the research topic. This will be with staff under the age of 35 currently employed in the CLD sector across the Tayside and Fife Alliance areas who currently do not hold the degree qualification. Earlier research by the CLD Standards Council in 2018 identified an ageing workforce and inviting participants from the 4 local authority areas that the Alliance represents, it is hoped will inform the group on future support required for younger staff to continue with learning and can build on the local learning pathways for CLD practitioners.

The interviews will take place face-to-face and virtually using Microsoft TEAMS if this is most convenient for those choosing to take part in the research. I am aiming the participants will consist of employed staff in local authority and the voluntary sector across 4 regional areas of the Tayside and Fife CLD Alliance areas. On transcribing the interviews, I plan to use the constant comparative method of analysis to draw out themes that emerge across the sample, and to identify any serendipitous findings that I may not be expecting.

4. Identification and Recruitment of Participants

How will participants be identified and recruited? Will your research involve participants outside of the UK? If so where?

Please provide details on how and by whom they will be contacted; please also add information on any exclusion criteria, should they apply. *Please attach the wording of any emails, letters, social media adverts or other written approaches that you may use for recruitment purposes.*

I intend to use my current network of colleagues across the Tayside Alliance areas to share information on becoming involved in the research, this will be via a short summary of the research purpose and who the intended participants I am aiming to recruit and circulated by email. I will also use the CLD Standards Council weekly newsletter to promote involvement. The participants will solely consist of those who have volunteered to participate. I will provide my details to get in touch to take part in the research. I am intending to interview 2 to 3 people from different regional areas mainly Fife, Dundee, Angus and Perth. Within my own area of work I have knowledge of potential participants who will fit the criteria of my research and can approach to be part of the study.

5. Informed Consent

How will you obtain informed consent? Are you satisfied that all participants have capacity to make their own decisions and understand the risks?

Please explain how and when participants will be informed about the scope of the research, what their involvement would entail and their rights under data protection legislation. *Please provide the participant information sheet and consent form with this application*; if consent is not obtained in written format (e.g., oral communication, deliberate action to opt-in to surveys or questionnaires), please provide details of how consent will be obtained and recorded. If the project involves photography or video- or audio-recording of participants, explicit consent will need to be given; where applicable this includes consent for someone not on the direct research team to have access to the participant's data (e.g. for transcription). Explain how you have considered and will address consent for the preservation and potential sharing and <u>reuse of data</u>.

On successful authorisation of the ethics form I will send an email to colleagues as described above looking for volunteers to participate. After initial contact I will reply with all attached documentation and introduction as to the purpose of their involvement in the research project. Informed consent will be secured by providing the participants who elect to be involved with a project information sheet and consent form highlighting that participation (and recording of their interview) is voluntary, and that they could withdraw from the study at any point with no penalty. Personal details will not be obtained, only respondents' name, work email address, and position and will only be accessed by myself this will be discussed with participants on meeting with them either in person or online so they are clear of their involvement and opportunity to withdraw at anytime.

6a. Data Management: Lawful Processing of Data

Data protection legislation² requires participants to be informed of the <u>lawful basis</u> for processing their personal data. At the University of Dundee, the normal basis for the lawful processing of personal data in research is that 'processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller'. If you intend to use another lawful basis you must contact the University's <u>Data Protection Officer</u> (DPO) for advice and insert the lawful basis agreed with the DPO below.

6b. Data Management: Planning

Please describe your plan for managing the data³ you will collect during your project and how it complies with data protection legislation. Include information on:

i) The type and volume of data; ii) Where and for how long will the data be stored and what measures will be in place to ensure secure storage; iii) Whether the data will be anonymised or pseudonymised⁴; iv) How secure access will be provided to data for collaborators; v) Whether and how data will be shared for <u>reuse</u> by other researchers beyond the project (including details on any access restrictions); vi) Processes in place to erase and/or stop processing an individual participant's data (except where this would render impossible or seriously impair the research objectives)⁵; vii) Processes in place for individuals to have inaccurate personal data rectified, or completed if it is incomplete; viii) Who has overall responsibility for data management for the research project; ix) Arrangements for collection and transfer of data outside the UK.

All data generated by the 1 -1 interviews will be securely stored using my Dundee university Microsoft one drive storage device that I have sole access too. On completion of the research work and submission of the final report, the saved files will be destroyed after confirmation has been received that no further work on the submission is required. Survey respondents will be referred to using numbers and initials of the area participant or as other names so as not to identify the participants, which should only be identified by myself as the researcher and will not reveal the participants identity.

7. Other Permissions

Are any other permissions (e.g., from local authorities) required? If so which?

N/A

8. Risks of Harm to Researchers and Participants

Risks of harm. Please detail any risks associated with the project. Does the research involve fieldwork (either in the UK or overseas)? Does the research incur a risk of injury or ill-health above the level of risk prevalent in daily living? *If yes, please complete the relevant risk assessment form(s) (general risk assessment form and/or the risk assessment for Travelling on University Work Overseas)* and submit with this application.

9. Other Ethical Considerations

Are there any other ethical considerations relating to your project which have not been covered above? If so, please explain.

I understand that conducting this research in my own organisation and other regions where I will be known to some participants, I need to understand my position may be seen as one of power assumed with my hierarchical position as a manager. I am also aware of my own professional bias that entering the CLD profession is a career goal to be obtained and to be completely objective to responses. I will in my introduction explain the research is being conducted and the respondents answers will not prejudice them in anyway by making clear at the outset my position in Fife and that all discussions and information used will be confidential and not easily identifiable in final written report as coding and the open and honest communication about their workplace and their personal situations will be in strict confidence and all response will be anonymised and will not identify participants to those reading.

10. Documentation

Please list all attached documentation, ensuring that each item has a date and version number.

Participant information sheet V1VW

EMail text to participants E1VW

11. Declaration

By signing below I declare that I have read the University <u>Code of Practice for Non-</u> <u>Clinical Research Ethics on Human Participants</u> and that my research abides by these guidelines. I understand that this application and associated documents will be retained by the University.

Principal Investigator or Student

Name: Vicky Wilson

Date: 16/02/2023

Signature:

Supervisor (for applications from students)

Name:

Date:

Signature:

Appendix 3

From: Jean McEwan-Short (Staff) Sent: 31 March 2023 18:01 To: Alan Mackie (Staff) Subject: Re: Vicky Ethics Forms

Hi Alan, I think this is good to go and Vicky has done a good job of writing a clear proposal. I have just a minor comment that you could ask her to amend, it doesn't need to come back to me.

In the info sheet Vicky has written the following:

The personal data that will be collected and processed in this study are

• Your name

- Your email address
- The region you work in i.e Fife Council, Dundee City Council
- Your position/role

There is no mention of collecting personal data on the form and my understanding is that she won't be using personal data, so just to be clear I think she needs to write beside 'Your name' that it will be pseudonymised.

Sincerely

Jean



Dr Jean McEwan-Short Programmes' Academic Lead Community Education Senior Lecturer School of Education & Social Work University of Dundee Nethergate, Dundee, DD1 4HN

Latest Podcast: 'Young people as CLD Lecturers?': Young People as CLD Lecturers? with Hot Chocolate Trust and University of Dundee by CLD Talks (anchor.fm) Community Education students talking about the BA(Hons) Community Education programme:

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cOILQwIEEHE

^DHide message history

Appendix 4 – Email to Colleagues

Hi fellow Tayside colleagues

Please see the attached letter from me in my student capacity! I am looking for volunteers under the age of 35 to take part in a research interview with myself for my master's dissertation in Community Education

If you have staff employed but not yet went on a journey to qualification, I would be interested to interview them

Please share with colleagues that may be willing to take part

Thanks a lot Vicky

Appendix 5

Participant Information Sheet for staff working in CLD provision

The target population will include adults aged 18 – 35 years who are currently employed in a Community Learning provision.

"An exploration of young practitioners' motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects in CLD"

University of Dundee School Research Ethics Committee Application/Approval Number:

I am inviting you to take part in the research project I will be conducting as part of my Masters Degree in Community Education. I will be looking to ask you questions about your current education qualifications, your knowledge about further learning opportunities and if there are barriers and support that would impact on further learning. Before you decide whether you would like to participate, it is important that you read the information provided below. This will help you to understand why and how the research is being carried out and what participation will involve. If you would like to discuss this information, if anything is unclear or you have any questions please contact me directly on the email address I have contacted you on.

Who is conducting the research?

My name is Vicky Wilson and I am a student of the University of Dundee undertaking my Masters Degree in Community Education.

Who is funding the research?

Fife Council have funded my place on the course

What is the purpose of the research?

This research is being carried out to understand the opportunities that are available to young people working in the field of Community Learning and Development (CLD) to go on and study for accredited courses in the field of practice. The research will help to identify any barriers or support gaps for young staff and aims to improve the pathways for those working in the field to achieve qualifications and progress their careers in Community Learning.

Aims:

- Improve access to existing entry level learning and qualifications for those interested in CLD as a career choice
- To understand the barriers that are preventing younger age groups currently practising in the CLD field to progressing to qualifications in the field who are working in the Fife and Tayside regions
- To ascertain if young staff have the same access to opportunities to upskill through further learning opportunities
- To discover if younger staff are supported to study while in the workplace

Why have I been invited to take part?

You have been invited to take part because you are currently employed in one of the four regions in Fife and Tayside and under the age of 35 years who I am aiming this research at.

Do I have to take part?

No, participation in the research is completely voluntary and if once you have agreed to take part and on us meeting and after explanation of what will take place you will still be able to withdraw from the process at anytime

What will happen if I take part?

If you choose to take part this will mean you are giving your consent to be involved in the research. You will be invited to take part in an interview with myself either face-to-face or online depending on whatever is your preferred method or more convenient to participate. Once you have understood and signed the consent forms, I will be in touch via email to organise a suitable date. I have a set of questions that will be asked openly to allow you to answer as much as you wish and allow for a conversation. The interviews will be recorded if on Teams or via a recording device to allow me to document the details for data gathering of all those taking part. This will only be available to me and deleted after use. The interviews should take no longer than an hour and can arrange these at a suitable time for yourself.

If you have any learning difficulties, please speak to me before participation and I can make sure I plan what Is required to make it easier to take part.

Are there any risks in taking part?

There should be no risks in taking part, if participating online you can sit in a comfortable space with no distractions to allow you to talk openly online. If we arrange to meet face-to-face I will arrange a private space with suitable seating. If for any reason your mental or physical health will prevent your attendance, then contact me to rearrange or cancel.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

There is no initial benefit, but the research will be made available to local employers and may result in changes to the opportunities to take part in further learning or training offered as a result.

Will my taking part in this project be kept confidential?

All information you provide will be held in the strict confidence, unless at any time I feel information you are telling me suggests harm to yourself or others, then I will make you aware that I will need to share this for your own protection. I will be the only person with access to the responses you provide, and I will not be using names when I present the research you will be referred to as participant A. I will be operating in line with University's data protection guidelines and if you have any concerns, you can contact them on the following email. <u>dataprotection@dundee.ac.uk</u>).

What will happen to the information I provide?

All responses will be stored electronically on my Dundee University Microsoft one drive that only I can access. Any notes I take will also be transferred to my electronic files and paper notes destroyed. All the data gathered will be destroyed once the research is complete and has been graded by the University. The research will be made available to colleagues in the Community Learning Services you work within, but all participants will be anonymised so won't be identified from the final research.

Data Protection

The personal data that will be collected and processed in this study are

- Your name (which will be pseudonymised)
- Your email address
- The region you work in i.e Fife Council, Dundee City Council
- Your position/role

The University asserts that it lawful for it to process your personal data in this project as the processing is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest or in the exercise of official authority vested in the controller.

The University of Dundee is the data controller for the personal and/or special categories of personal data processed in this.

The University respects your rights and preferences in relation to your data and if you wish to update, access, erase, or limit the use of your information, please let us know by emailing *Vicky Wilson* <u>2472739@dundee.ac.uk</u>

Please note that some of your rights may be limited where personal data is processed for research, but we are happy to discuss that with you. If you wish to complain about the use of your information please contact the University's Data Protection Officer in the first instance (email: <u>dataprotection@dundee.ac.uk</u>). You may also wish to contact the Information Commissioner's Office (<u>https://ico.org.uk/</u>).

You can find more information about the ways that personal data is used at the University at: <u>https://www.dundee.ac.uk/information-</u> governance/dataprotection/.

Is there someone else I can complain to?

If you wish to complain about the way the research has been conducted please contact the Convener of the University Research Ethics Committee (<u>https://www.dundee.ac.uk/research/governance-policy/ethicsprocedures/ethics/contacts/</u>).

Alternative formats

The researcher should offer to provide a copy of the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form in alternative formats (e.g. large print, Braille). Advice on alternative formats can be obtained from <u>Disability Services</u> (email: <u>altformats@dundee.ac.uk</u>).

Appendix 6 – Informed Consent Form

Informed Consent for "An exploration of young practitioners' motivation towards further study to enhance their career prospects"

1. Taking part in the study		No
	s	
1a. I have read the Participant Information Sheet, or it has been read to		
me. I have		
been able to ask questions about the study and my questions have been		
answered		
to my satisfaction.		
1b. I consent voluntarily to be a participant in this study and understand		
that I can		
refuse to answer questions and I can withdraw from the study at any time		
during		
data collection, without having to give a reason.		
1c I understand that taking part in the study involves		
 Video recording during interview 		
Storing personal information		
 Storing electronic copies of the responses I give 		

2. Use of the information in the study	
2a. I understand that information I provide will be used by Vicky Wilson only	
2b. I understand that personal information collected about me that can identify me, such as my name or where I live, will not be shared beyond Vicky Wilson	
2c. I agree that anonymised direct quotes can be used in research outputs.	

3. Signatures

Participants Name:	
Participants Signature:	
Date:	

By signing above, you are indicating that you have read and understood the Participant Information Sheet and that you agree to take part in this research study.

Name of Researcher:	
Signature of Researcher:	
Date:	

For participants who have difficulty reading the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form, and/or signing the consent form, there is an alternative form of gaining informed consent.

Participants Name:	
Date:	

[Researcher completes participant's name and date]

Participants unable to sign their name should mark the box instead of signing:

I have accurately read out the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form to the potential participant. To the best of my ability, I have ensured that the participant

understands what they are freely consenting to and have completed the Consent Form in accordance with their wishes.

Name of Researcher:	
Signature of Researcher:	
Date:	

I have witnessed the accurate reading of the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form with the potential participant and the individual has had the opportunity to ask questions. I confirm that the individual has given consent freely.

Name of Witness:	
Signature of Witness:	
Date:	

If the participant is unable to mark the box but is able to indicate consent orally, or in another manner, then the signatures of the witness and the researcher will be sufficient. In such cases the researcher should indicate below how consent was given.

Form of consent for participants unable to provide a signature or to mark the box:

5. Study contact details for further information

[Insert details of contact name, phone number and email address]

6. Alternative formats

The researcher should offer to provide a copy of the Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form in alternative formats (e.g. large print, Braille). Advice on alternative formats can be obtained from <u>Disability Services</u> (email: <u>altformats@dundee.ac.uk</u>).

Appendix 7 – Sample of data coding themes from interviews

SchoolI left with one higher, I didn't really experience and qualificationsdualificationsI left with one higher, I didn't really kind of stick at it, I mean I stuck till 6th year but wasn't really interested and then it was just a big gap and decided to apply for college just for the hell of it and kind of ended up doing an honours degreethat was popular music	
Н	
I left school with nothing, no highers I then went and did NC sports then HNC/D I then did the HND and I hated that and decided after that I wasn't going to University or any further education and wanted to get a job J	
I really liked school, loved school, home wasn't great, so school was good and the highest qualification I got was advanced higher in Englishso I got highers and unconditional for college so didn't try in 6 th year was about the social life K	
I really struggled at school I only recently got diagnosed in 2 nd year at Uni with dyslexiaschool wasn't a great place for me If I had that (diagnosis) at school would I have went to University quicker?, but I am glad I did my MA as it gave me a better outlook when it came to going to uni E	

Table 2 Example of Data Coding of Themes from interviews

Devites Schools	Charles hairs a surface state of the	In fluin and the
Routes into the first role in the profession	Started being a volunteer at age of 14, then first paid youth worker job at 18"the MA came up and was encouraged to go for it E	Influence (EM)
	A CEW asked do you want to help? so I helped at family nights then became a youth worker K	
	I was volunteeringdoing junior music projects G	
	I did my apprenticeship in youth work D	
	Doing the admin for youth workgetting to know people,,,,and it just happened by chancethis weekend work doing sessional work doing detachedH	
	When I was younger I did some volunteering, it was always something I had an interest inM	
Job Motivation in role	I enjoy working with people and seeing them achieveJ	Interest (IM)
	I was always finding jobs with wee groups that you feel you make a difference, like the underdogs, like I always felt like people who don't have a voiceK	
	Its very flexible, a creative space, lots of room for ideasit feels very at the precipice of something that's important and a shift in youth work, that's the way I feel about it and its goodD	
	Quite happy doing this and then kind of just learning and progressing as I go H	
	I had an interest in language and I do like the kind of youth work side,	

working with people and adult	
learners as wellenjoy the	
process of learning and teaching	
languages and so think in that	
sense I was always moving in tis	
direction towards this type of	
jobM	